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PART I
ITEM 1

BUSINESS
GENERAL

We are the recognized global technology and brand leader in providing an enterprise operating platform based on open source technology for the information
technology infrastructure of the Global 2000. We apply our technology leadership to create our enterprise operating platform, Red Hat Enterprise Linux and
related layered infrastructure technology solutions, based on open source technology. Our enterprise solutions meet the functionality requirements and
performance demands of the large enterprise and the third−party computer hardware and software applications that are critical to the large enterprise. In April
2002, we launched the first in a line of Red Hat Enterprise Linux solutions for large enterprise customers, Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS. Red Hat Enterprise
Linux AS was available for shipment in May 2002. Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS was developed to compete with proprietary Unix and Windows 2000 as the
primary operating platform for applications in the middle tier and data center of the information technology infrastructure of large enterprises. In March 2003, we
launched three additional technology solutions in the Red Hat Enterprise Linux line: Red Hat Enterprise Linux ES, Red Hat Enterprise Linux WS and Red Hat
Enterprise Network. Red Hat Enterprise Linux ES and WS broaden the areas of the information technology infrastructure to which our enterprise operating
platforms are relevant. We provide the chief information officers of the largest companies in the world with the choice of a Red Hat Enterprise Linux operating
platform for all application areas including the technical/developer workstation, edge of the network applications, the middle tier of the information technology
infrastructure (applications such as database ERP and large file systems) and the data center. Red Hat Enterprise Network provides an integrated management
service that allows our Red Hat Enterprise Linux technologies to be updated and configured and the performance of these technologies to be monitored all in an
automated fashion. These technology solutions, and the enterprise technology and systems management offerings that will follow them, reflect our commitment
to provide an enterprise−wide infrastructure platform based on open source technology.
We have quickly gained widespread independent software vendor support for our Red Hat Enterprise Linux platform, including Oracle (Oracle 9i Database,
Oracle 9i Application Server, Oracle E−Business Suite), IBM (WebSphere, DB2, Lotus, Tivoli), Alias/Wavefront, BMC, Borland, CheckPoint, Computer
Associates, Legato, Novell, Rogue Wave, Softimage, Synopsys, Tibco, and VERITAS, among others. In addition, we have signed global strategic partnering
relationships with the leading global providers of Intel based server and workstation hardware to the large enterprise, which include Dell, HP, Fujitsu and IBM,
all of which have agreed to support our entire line of Red Hat Enterprise Linux operating platform solutions and related systems management and other
enterprise technologies. These strategic relationships encompass the hardware, software and services business of these global companies. These partners will
work with Red Hat to ensure that our Red Hat Enterprise Linux platform is certified on their entire Intel hardware line in order to provide the large enterprise
with a server and operating platform appropriate for all application areas of the information technology infrastructure.
We have developed a complete suite of consulting and training offerings that enable large enterprise customers to capture the significant cost, performance and
scalability benefits of our enterprise solutions. We persist in our core belief that the collaborative open source development model is the most effective method to
create and deliver high quality software to enterprise customers. We believe that the adoption of Red Hat Enterprise Linux, which is based on open source
technology as a mission critical computing platform by the large enterprise, is a revolution in the computing industry which has by all accounts continued to gain
significant momentum during calendar 2002. In a March 2003 survey of chief information officers (“CIO’s”) of large enterprises conducted by Goldman Sachs &
Co., Red Hat was recognized as the number one provider of enterprise software who will gain share of these CIO’s purchasing dollars in calendar 2003. We
believe that our recognized leadership position in providing enterprise class technology based on open source to the large enterprise and our leadership position
in open source will make Red Hat one of the defining technology companies of the 21st century.
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Red Hat, Inc. was incorporated in Connecticut in March 1993 as ACC Corp., Inc., which subsequently changed its name to Red Hat Software, Inc. Red Hat
Software, Inc. reincorporated in Delaware in September 1998 and changed its name to Red Hat, Inc. in June 1999. In August 1999, we sold 13,800,000 shares of
common stock to the public in an initial public offering. An additional 4,000,000 shares of common stock were sold to the public in January 2000. Since its
initial public offering, the Company has completed numerous acquisitions. Except as otherwise indicated, all references in this report to “we”, “us”, “our”, the
“Company”, the “registrant”, or “Red Hat” means Red Hat, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
INDUSTRY BACKGROUND
Growth of open source software
The Internet has accelerated the development of open source software. Open source software has its origins in the academic and research environments and is
based on an open, collaborative approach to the development and distribution of software, whereby multiple groups of developers collaborate on specific projects
from remote locations around the globe. Developers can write code alone or in groups, make their code available over the Internet, give and receive comments on
other developers’ code and modify it accordingly. The growth of the Internet has greatly increased the scale and efficiency of open source development through
the availability of collaborative technologies such as e−mail lists, news groups and web sites. These technologies have enabled increasingly large communities of
independent developers to collaborate on more complex open source projects.
Open source software has emerged as a viable alternative to traditional proprietary software. Under the proprietary model of software development, a software
developer generally licenses to the user only the object, or binary code. Binary code consists of the 1’s and 0’s that only computers understand. By contrast,
under the open source development model, the software developer provides the user with access to both the binary code and the source code. Source code is the
language used by the developers. As compared to the proprietary model, the open source model:
•

allows a company’s in−house development team to collaborate with a global community of independent developers;

•

provides the user access to both binary and source code, and the rights to copy, modify, alter and redistribute the software; and

•

permits the user ongoing access to improvements made to the software by others.

We believe open source software offers many potential benefits for software customers, users and vendors. Customers and users are able to customize the
software to suit their particular needs. Vendors are able to leverage the community of open source developers, allowing them to reduce development costs and
decrease their time to market.
One of the better known open source technologies is the Linux kernel, the engine of our Linux−based Enterprise operating platform. An operating platform is the
software that allows a computer and its various hardware and software components to interact. Operating platforms based on the Linux kernel are robust and
dynamic. Thousands of developers worldwide continually collaborate on improving the Linux operating platform and we are able to take the best of those
improvements and integrate these improvements into our Red Hat Enterprise Linux operating platform and provide a stable, rapidly innovating and high
performing operating platform which has the support of all of the major independent software and hardware vendors in the world.
Since 1991, the use of Linux−based operating systems has grown rapidly. According to International Data Corporation (“IDC”), only two operating systems have
shown growth in net new shipments over the last three years: Linux and Microsoft NT/Windows 2000.
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Challenges to the widespread adoption of open source by the large enterprise
Despite a strong initial market acceptance of our Red Hat Enterprise Linux operating platform and other open source products by the large enterprise, there exists
a number of obstacles to widespread adoption within the enterprise, including:
•

the relative scarcity of third−party enterprise applications supporting our Red Hat Enteprise Linux operating platform;

•

limited number of well−financed, viable open source industry participants;

•

competition from well−established industry participants; and

•

success of a technology business model not based on the protection of proprietary technology.

THE RED HAT BUSINESS MODEL
We have created a viable, highly leverageable business model based on an enterprise suite of software solutions and technology−based systems management
services (Red Hat Enterprise Linux and Red Hat Enterprise Network) which are developed as open source technologies. These technologies and services are sold
to our customers in the form of annual subscriptions on a per−server basis. We have developed a compelling list of reasons for the CIO’s of large enterprises to
pay on a per−server basis for the software solutions and technology−based systems management services that we provide. These reasons are based on the
business value that we provide to our customers rather than the traditional “lock−in” of proprietary technology. Our business model is predicated on the
acceptance and widespread deployment of Red Hat Enterprise Linux as a significant operating platform by the large enterprise, our success at receiving annual
subscription revenues on a per−server basis for Red Hat Enterprise Linux and related enterprise technologies and our ability to receive increasing annual average
per server subscription revenues by providing additional value to our customers in the form of layers of technology and additional systems management services
which customers will purchase as needed.
Superior technology platform supported by the independent software and hardware vendors critical to the large enterprise
We engineer what we believe to be the most comprehensive, technically advanced, reliable and stable operating platform based on open source technology, the
Red Hat Enterprise Linux platform and related technologies. Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS, ES and WS provide an intergrated operating platform that meets the
performance, reliability and scalability demands of the chief information officer of the large enterprise from the edge of the network to the data center. In order to
allow the widespread deployment of our Red Hat Enterprise Linux platform, we have focused on gaining widespread support for the Red Hat Enterprise Linux
platform from the providers of hardware and software technology critical to the large enterprise. We are the only Linux company to gain widespread independent
software vendor support from the top software vendors large enterprises rely on, such as: Alias/Wavefront, BMC, Borland, CheckPoint, Computer Associates,
HP, IBM (WebSphere, DB2, Lotus, Tivoli), Legato, Novell, Oracle (Oracle 9i Database, Oracle 9i Application Server, Oracle E−Business Suite), Rogue Wave,
Softimage, Synopsys, Tibco, and VERITAS, and support from the top Intel hardware providers, like: Dell, Fujitsu, Fujitsu/Siemens, HP and IBM. Red Hat
Enterprise Linux is:
•

flexible and scalable—capable of running the entire network of a large business enterprise or a single device;

•

functional—able to handle discrete or multiple applications accessed by multiple users;

•

adaptable—allowing the user to modify the software to meet particular needs and requirements;

•

stable and reliable—constantly monitored and fine−tuned by thousands of developers worldwide; and
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•

economically compelling—providing a hard dollar, rapid return on investment (in most cases the return on investment occurs within six months or
less).

Technology−based systems management services which significantly reduce the cost of managing the IT infrastructure
Red Hat Enterprise Network, the first of Red Hat’s systems management offerings, improves the system reliability and security of the Red Hat Enterprise Linux
systems while increasing system administrator productivity to reduce the overall cost of managing the Red Hat Enterprise Linux infrastructure. Red Hat
Enterprise Network brings together the tools, services, and information customers need to maximize the reliability and security of enterprise systems. With Red
Hat Enterprise Network, a single administrator can set up and maintain hundreds or thousands of Red Hat Enterprise Linux systems more easily than maintaining
a single system without Red Hat Enterprise Network. Basic Red Hat Enterprise Network services are received as part of an annual subscription to Red Hat
Enterprise Linux. Options such as Proxy Server and Satellite Server can be purchased as additional annual subscriptions and can provide the solution for systems
management services in the enterprise from inside the corporate firewall by changing the delivery point of the service from Red Hat, via the internet, to a server
located inside the corporate firewall. In addition, we have recently expanded the functionality of Red Hat Enterprise Network to provide, as an additional annual
subscription, performance monitoring of the operating system, the network and certain infrastructure applications. This performance monitoring service can be
provided in a hosted model over the Internet or through a satellite model which moves the delivery point of the service inside the corporate firewall. We expect to
add additional systems management services during fiscal 2004 which we believe will increase our subscription revenue per server.
Extensive Professional Services
We offer a broad range of professional services relating to the development, deployment, and use of Red Hat Enterprise Linux and related technology−based
systems management services. These professional services include information technology architecture consulting, Red Hat Enterprise technology deployment
services, training and education and hardware certification. We believe that providing these services and establishing ourselves as our customers’ technology
development, deployment and systems management partner will allow us to facilitate the widespread adoption of Red Hat Enterprise Linux and other open
source solutions as full−scale enterprise solutions.
A leading online destination for the open source community
We are dedicated to serving the interests and needs of open source software users and developers online. redhat.com serves as our primary customer interface
and delivery mechanism for many of our solutions. redhat.com also serves as a comprehensive resource for the latest information related to open source
initiatives. It contains news of interest to open source users and developers, features for the open source community, a commerce site and priority access for
software downloads and upgrades. Visitors to our website can organize and participate in user groups, make available bug fixes and incremental code
improvements and share knowledge regarding the use and development of open source software.
By acting as a clearinghouse of open source and Linux−related information and by facilitating the interaction of developers, businesses and technology
enthusiasts, our website has become a community center for the open source movement.
Commitment to the open source development model
Red Hat has fully embraced the open source model in the development of its technology solutions and services. Whereas some of our competitors have
incorporated certain aspects of this model into their businesses while retaining various features of the proprietary model, our product offerings are true open
source offerings.
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We share our improvements to the Linux kernel and other open source products with the development community. In this way, we benefit independent
developers by making our products more useful for them in their own development projects. We believe that the collaborative open source development model is
the best way to develop and deliver high quality software.
Strategic relationships
During fiscal 2003, we established contractual global strategic relationships which encompass technology development, marketing and distribution of Red Hat
Enterprise Linux with leading technology companies, which include Dell, Hewlett−Packard, IBM, IBM Global Services, Intel, Oracle, Fujitsu, and AMD, in an
effort to increase the market acceptance of our Red Hat Enterprise Linux operating platform and Red Hat Enterprise Network Services and the other enterprise
infrastructure solutions that we may develop in the future. By establishing and maintaining these strategic relationships, we are able to increase market awareness
of our Red Hat Enterprise technologies, gather industry support for our enterprise technologies and services, penetrate new geographic and solutions markets and,
most importantly, rapidly increase the deployment of Red Hat Enterprise Linux by large enterprises.
BUSINESS STRATEGY
Our business strategy is to rapidly gain acceptance and create widespread deployment of Red Hat Enterprise Linux as a mission critical operating platform by the
large enterprise, to receive annual subscription revenues on a per server basis for Red Hat Enterprise Linux and to receive increasing annual subscription
revenues on a per server basis by providing additional value to our customers in the form of layers of technology that will be provided on top of our Red Hat
Enterprise Linux platform and through providing additional systems management services. In addition, we are focused on becoming the preferred choice of the
Global 2000 for assistance in architecting the deployment of our enterprise technologies and in providing education and training services related to our enterprise
technologies and other open source technologies. The key elements of our strategy are:
Adoption of Red Hat Enterprise Linux by the large enterprise
Although the past year has seen substantial acceptance of the Red Hat Enterprise Linux operating platform by the large enterprise and the acceptance of Linux in
general as a viable operating platform for mission critical areas of the information technology infrastructure of large enterprises, we intend to promote further
acceptance of Red Hat Enterprise Linux and Red Hat Enterprise Network through a variety of means. This includes developing additional layers of technology
for our Red Hat Enterprise Linux platform, bringing new systems management services to market, focusing on the success of our new strategic relationships with
companies such as HP, IBM and Fujitsu, and continuing to add strategic relationships with other major information technology companies in geographic areas in
which we believe that the opportunity for the use of Red Hat Enterprise Linux by the large enterprise is just beginning to develop momentum or geographic areas
which should be a large opportunity for Red Hat Enterprise Linux in the future. The strength of our strategic relationships is crucial to the continued expansion of
the use of Red Hat enterprise technologies globally, the technical advancement and widespread distribution of our enterprise solutions, the migration of existing
third−party enterprise applications to Red Hat Enterprise Linux and the development of new third−party enterprise applications suitable for Linux−based
operating systems.
Continue to pursue strategic acquisitions and alliances
We intend to continue to pursue a selective acquisition strategy as opportunities arise to complement and expand our systems management offerings, add
additional layers of infrastructure solutions to our Red Hat Enterprise Linux platform and extend our service capabilities. We also intend to create strategic
alliances where it is beneficial to our business model.
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Continue our penetration and grow our market share in international markets
We have operations in most countries in Europe and Asia. We are continuing to expand our operations geographically. We offer Red Hat Enterprise Linux in
English, French, German, Italian, and Japanese, and plan to introduce it in additional languages in the future. We expect that our international operations will
remain an integral part of our business and that we will expand into new countries such as China and continents such as South America.
Continue to invest in the development of open source technology
We intend to continue to invest significant resources in the development of new open source technology, capitalizing on our extensive experience working with
the open source model. We expect this continued investment to take the form of increased expenditures on internal development efforts, as well as continued
funding of third−party open source projects. We also plan to continue our financial support of the development efforts of many of the top−tier engineers in the
open source community.
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
The Red Hat Enterprise family of products, consisting of Red Hat Enterprise Linux, Red Hat Enterprise Network, and Red Hat Enterprise Applications, are at the
center of our product strategy. We also create additional products, including Red Hat Linux and related tools, and open source software applications. Our
professional services offerings, principally directed toward our large enterprise customers and strategic partners, include technical support and maintenance,
custom development, consulting, training and education, and hardware certification.
Many of our software products come with a limited services subscription. Users are entitled to access Red Hat Network and Red Hat Enterprise Network in
addition to various levels of Internet−based or telephone−based support.
Red Hat Enterprise Linux
Red Hat Enterprise Linux is a version of the Linux operating system designed expressly for mission critical enterprise computing. Red Hat Enterprise Linux is
built around a common core that delivers the features required for commercial deployments, including:
•

support for a wide range of independent software vendor (“ISV”) applications, including Oracle, VERITAS, IBM, and BEA;

•

certification on multiple architectures and leading Intel−based hardware original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) platforms, including Dell, HP,
Fujitsu, Fujitsu Siemens, IBM and Sun Microsystems;

•

comprehensive service offerings, up to 24 x 7 with 1 hour response, available both from Red Hat and selected ISV/OEM partners;

•

excellent performance, scalability, and availability, with audited industry benchmarks—including TPC−C, TPC−R, ECperf, NotesBench,
SPECjAppServer2001;

•

excellent stability with 12−18 month version upgrade cycles and guaranteed five years product support; and

•

a fully homogeneous family of products that enable seamless interoperation of systems from the technical/developer workstation to the data center.
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Red Hat Enterprise Linux is available in three versions:
Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS (formerly known as Red Hat Linux Advanced Server) is the top−of−the−line Enterprise Linux
solution designed for use in mission critical areas of the IT infrastructure. Supporting the largest commodity−architecture servers and available with the highest
levels of support, Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS is the ultimate solution for large departmental, middle tier of the IT infrastructure and data center server
deployments.
Red Hat Enterprise Linux ES Red Hat Enterprise Linux ES is the operating system solution of choice for a significant percentage of today’s business
computing needs. It is suitable for systems ranging from the edge−of−network to medium scale departmental deployments.
Red Hat Enterprise Linux WS Red Hat Enterprise Linux WS is the technical/developer workstation partner for Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS and Red Hat
Enterprise Linux ES. It is ideal for client−server deployments, development environments, and client applications environments (such as electronic design
automation and oil/gas applications). In addition, it serves as our solution for high performance computing/clustering applications.
Red Hat Enterprise Linux products are delivered on an annual subscription basis with one year of support services and access to the basic software update and
configuration management functionality of Red Hat Enterprise Network.
Red Hat Enterprise Network
Red Hat Enterprise Network is a comprehensive framework for the management of software delivery, maintenance, monitoring, and reporting of hardware and
systems. Currently comprised of two modules—software delivery and monitoring—Red Hat Enterprise Network enables proactive management of software
updates, security, and enterprise applications which significantly reduces the cost of managing your Red Hat Enterprise Linux based infrastructure.
Software Delivery Module The software delivery module is designed to simplify the management of large groups of systems. Red Hat Network has been a part
of our customers’ Red Hat Linux subscription for many years, automating software updates for Red Hat Linux systems. Now this same service is available for
the Red Hat Enterprise Linux platform and related technologies and includes a number of higher−level capabilities designed for large groups of systems,
including massive scalability, system grouping, support for multiple administrators, a system set manager, and a package profile comparison tool.
Advanced options, which are sold as additional annual subscriptions, including Proxy Server and Satellite Server, are also available. Proxy Server is a
custom−built proxy system deployed on a customer’s site that caches packages for distribution across a local Intranet while maintaining a single, secure
connection to Red Hat Enterprise Network. Satellite Server is a custom−built system enabling large organizations to store system profiles locally, changing the
delivery point of the systems management services to inside the corporate firewall which gives customers complete discretion in the management of their IT
infrastructure.
Monitoring Module The monitoring module gives both high−growth businesses and service providers a simple, scalable, and cost−effective method to manage
their complex computing infrastructures. Through the monitoring module, customers gain integrated application, network, system, and transaction monitoring
and reporting, ensuring the availability and performance of critical applications and infrastructures running on Red Hat Enterprise Linux, most Unix operating
systems and most Microsoft operating systems.
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Red Hat Enterprise Applications
Red Hat Enterprise Applications bring Red Hat’s experience as the leading provider of open source Enterprise technology to the corporate applications market.
The Red Hat Enterprise Applications family is comprised of database−backed Java web application products that include:
•

Red Hat Enterprise Linux as a base operating system;

•

Red Hat Stronghold providing Apache web server and Tomcat Java servlet engine;

•

PostgreSQL open source database Java component technology from the Jakarta project;

•

Red Hat Web Application Framework.

In addition to incorporating key open source Java components, the Red Hat Web Application Framework is designed to provide a standards−based architecture
that will work in conjunction with other open source and proprietary applications.
There are currently two products in the Red Hat Enterprise Applications family:
Red Hat Enterprise Content Management System (CMS) Red Hat Enterprise CMS is a complete workflow−based engine for managing content in intranet,
extranet, and Internet settings. It allows companies to expand the contributor base while improving cohesiveness and control of content.
Red Hat Enterprise Portal Server Red Hat Enterprise Portal Server is a framework for personalized and group−oriented aggregation and delivery of
information. It relies on servlets to provide access to new and existing applications in an organizations infrastructure and present the information in a convenient
centralized perspective.
Consumer/community products
Red Hat also maintains a product line specifically created to serve the needs and interests of technology enthusiasts and home users. This product line includes
Red Hat Linux and Red Hat Network.
Red Hat Linux Red Hat Linux is our version of the Linux operating system designed specifically for the technology enthusiast and home user. Red Hat Linux
incorporates the latest Linux technology from our development teams, and is released early and often so sophisticated users can try the very latest features. Red
Hat Linux products are revised every six months, and include bug fixes and errata for 12 months after the date of initial product availability. Red Hat Linux 9, the
latest release in this product line, is available in two versions, Red Hat Linux 9 and Red Hat Linux 9 Professional. Each includes the easy−to−use Bluecurve ™
desktop interface, documentation, installation support, and a 30− or 60−day subscription to Red Hat Network.
Red Hat Network With more than one million registered users, Red Hat Network has become the tool of choice Red Hat Linux home users and technology
enthusiasts use to update their systems. Red Hat Network, the service that inspired its enterprise−class counterpart, Red Hat Enterprise Network, includes limited
features for home users and technology enthusiasts.
Errata notifications and updates let users know when a new errata has been released. Dependency checking automatically confirms updates against a database of
over one million dependency checks. Paying customers may also download the latest versions of Red Hat Linux online rather than purchasing through a retail
store.
Other products
Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server is one of the layered technology solutions for our Red Hat Enterprise
Linux platform. Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server is a
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highly secure Apache web server for Red Hat Enterprise Linux and other operating systems, such as Unix, featuring quick install and configuration tools.
GNUPro Tools GNUPro is a commercial−grade tool suite based on the GNU standard. This tool suite is built on a standard reference base and delivered with
pre−configured binaries. GNUPro features a graphical interface, compiler, debugger, linker, loader, and utilities, and can be purchased with various levels of
support packages.
Professional services
Our services are designed to help individuals and enterprises derive the full value of our products and open source technology.
Global Professional Services Red Hat’s strategy is to provide comprehensive solutions to assist customers at every phase of the infrastructure lifecycle, from
analysis and design of use of Red Hat open source solutions to development and deployment. We also offer services in areas such as migration to Linux from
UNIX and integration of disparate operating environments, high−performance computing, and high−availability clustering.
Global Learning Services Red Hat Global Learning Services provides comprehensive Linux training for system administrators. The flagship of our training
program is RHCE (Red Hat Certified Engineer) certification which has been ranked as the number one technical training certification by Certification Magazine
in December 2001. The GLS curriculum includes courseware on security, developer skills and much more. We offer open enrollment in more than 60 cities
worldwide, and the majority of curriculums also can be delivered via e−learning or a customized onsite course. We also provide training onsite to a number of
Global 2000 companies.
COMPETITION
In the market for operating systems, we compete with a limited number of large and well−established companies that have significantly greater financial
resources, larger development staffs and more extensive marketing and distribution capabilities. These competitors include Microsoft, IBM, and Sun
Microsystems, all of which offer hardware−independent, multi−user operating systems for Intel platforms, and HP and Unisys, each of which, together with IBM
and Sun Microsystems, offers its own version of the UNIX operating system with their own hardware offerings. Many of these competitors bundle competitive
operating systems with their own hardware offerings, thereby making it more difficult for us to penetrate their customer bases.
With the development of our enterprise consulting and training and education offerings, we now face competition in the market for providing consulting services
related to the deployment of our enterprise technologies, including Red Hat Enterprise Linux and Red Hat Enterprise Network. Our competitors in the market
include our partner, IBM Global Services, as well as other technology infrastructure consulting companies.
In the market for systems management services, we compete with a limited number of large companies that have significantly greater financial resources, larger
development staffs and more extensive marketing and distribution capabilities. These competitors include IBM, HP, Computer Associates and BMC, all of which
offer heterogeneous operating system support including Linux, Solaris, AIX, HPUX and Windows. Many of these competitors have legacy client/server offerings
which require long implementation cycles and are more difficult to replace in enterprise customers due to switching costs.
The open source solutions market is not characterized by the traditional barriers to entry that are found in most other markets, due to the nature of our products.
For example, anyone can copy, modify and redistribute Red Hat Enterprise Linux and most of our other open source products themselves. However, they are not
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permitted to refer to these products as “Red Hat” solutions unless they purchase such solutions from us and, as it relates to our Red Hat Enterprise Linux and Red
Hat Enterprise Network offerings, our customers agree not to utilize the benefits of the subscription services that they receive from us on any server/workstation
for which they have not purchased a subscription. In addition, the only means by which customers can receive a certified version of Red Hat Enterprise Linux
and receive updates and upgrades to a copy of Red Hat Enterprise Linux is to purchase and maintain a current subscription with us, our strategic partners or our
certified distributors/resellers.
We believe that the major factors affecting the competitive landscape for our products include:
•

name and reputation of vendor;

•

product performance, reliability, functionality and price;

•

alliances with major industry partners;

•

quality of subscription services;

•

Global 2000 reference accounts;

•

availability of third−party enterprise infrastructure applications which run on the platform;

•

breadth of hardware compatibility;

•

distribution strength and number of distribution partners; and

•

strength of relationships in the open source community.

Although we believe that we compete favorably with many of our competitors in a number of respects, including product performance, functionality and price,
and breadth of hardware compatibility, we believe that many of our competitors have superior distribution capabilities than we currently do. In addition, there are
significantly more enterprise infrastructure applications available for competing operating systems, such as Windows NT and UNIX, than there are for Red Hat
Enterprise Linux. An integral part of our strategy has been to address these shortcomings by, among other things, strengthening our existing strategic
relationships and entering into new ones to expand our distribution capabilities, and attracting more attention to the open source movement, which in turn should
create additional incentives for software developers to write more applications for Red Hat Enterprise Linux. We have shown significant progress in
implementing this strategy during fiscal 2003 by entering into strategic relationships with IBM (including IBM Global Services), Hewlett−Packard, Fujitsu
(including Fujitsu−Siemens) and Oracle. In addition, we have quickly gained support for our Red Hat Enterprise Linux platform by leading independent software
vendors.
SOFTWARE ENGINEERING AND DEVELOPMENT
We have invested, and intend to continue to invest, significant resources in product and technology development. We focus and modify our product development
efforts based on the needs of users and changes in the marketplace. We are currently focusing our development efforts on improving or adding the functionality
to Red Hat Enterprise Linux and Red Hat Enterprise Network which is needed by the Global 2000 and the leading third−party applications upon which the
Global 2000 are dependent. Our software engineers collaborate with open source software development teams working across the Internet. This involvement
enables us to remain abreast of, and lead, technical advances, plans for development of new features and timing of releases, as well as other information related
to the development of the Linux kernel and other open source projects.
Our software engineers have contributed to the development and maintenance of some of the most important components of the Red Hat Enterprise Linux
operating system, including the installation program and the package management program. The installation program provides users with a single method to
install the hundreds of separate software programs that are included with Red Hat Enterprise Linux so that, from the user’s
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perspective, the hundreds of programs appear as one. This simplified process sharply reduces the time and effort required to install as compared to the alternative
of gathering the hundreds of programs one by one via the Internet. The installation program provides default settings for the user depending upon whether the
user wishes to use Red Hat Linux as a server operating system or as a workstation operating system. The installation also provides advanced users with the ability
to customize the programs that are installed, allowing for significant flexibility and control over the operating system. The installation also automatically detects
the type of hardware that comprises the user’s computer, in order to ensure that all programs necessary for Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS and Red Hat Linux to
work on the hardware are properly installed.
Our software development engineers perform extensive testing of Red Hat Enterprise Linux, Stronghold Secure Enterprise Web Server, Red Hat Enterprise
Applications and other Red Hat Enterprise technologies to ensure that they are properly assembled and work coherently from the user’s perspective. We use
industry standard methods of quality assurance testing to ensure that our Enterprise technologies are solidly engineered and ready for use by our customers when
shipped.
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
Red Hat Enterprise Linux, Red Hat Enterprise Applications, Red Hat Linux, Stronghold, and other Red Hat technologies and our other open source products have
been developed and made available for licensing under the GNU General Public License and similar open source licenses. These licenses generally permit
anyone to copy, modify and distribute the software, subject only to the restriction that any resulting or derivative work that is made available to the public be
licensed under the same terms. Therefore, although we retain the copyrights to the code that we develop ourselves, due to the nature of our open source software
products and the licenses under which we develop and distribute them, our most valuable intellectual property is our collection of trademarks. We rely primarily
on a combination of trademarks and copyrights to protect our intellectual property. We also enter into confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements with our
employees and consultants, and generally control access to and distribution of our documentation and other proprietary information.
We pursue registration of some of our trademarks in the United States and in other countries. We have registered the trademark “Red Hat” and the Red Hat
“Shadowman” logo in the United States, Canada, China, Hong Kong, Japan, New Zealand, Korea, Taiwan, Australia, the European Union, and more than 19
other countries and have registrations pending in many other countries. Other trademarks we have registered or for which registrations are pending in the United
States include Red Hat Certified Engineer, RHCE, GNUPro, Bluecurve, Stronghold and Red Hat Press.
Despite our efforts to protect our trademark rights, unauthorized third parties have in the past attempted and in the future may attempt to misappropriate our
trademark rights. We cannot be certain that we will succeed in preventing the continued misappropriation of our tradename and trademarks in these
circumstances or that we will be able to prevent this type of unauthorized use in the future. The laws of some foreign countries do not protect our trademark
rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. In addition, policing unauthorized use of our trademark rights is difficult, expensive and time
consuming, however, we maintain a vigorous enforcement program. The loss of any material trademark or tradename could have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results and financial condition.
Red Hat has also undertaken patent protection of some of the innovative ideas of our software developers. Not all of these inventions are applicable to our current
technologies. Some provide protection of potential new technologies. As part of Red Hat’s commitment to the open source community, we provide our patent
promise to permit development and distribution of open source applications that read on our patents. Consequently, it is unlikely that our patents will, of
themselves, provide substantial revenue to the company. Rather, they are intended to provide a shield from the potential patent infringement claims of third
parties.
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Although we do not believe that our products infringe the rights of third parties, third parties have in the past asserted, and may in the future assert, infringement
claims against us which may result in costly litigation or require us to obtain a license to third−party intellectual rights. There can be no assurance that such
licenses will be available on reasonable terms or at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
EMPLOYEES
As of March 31, 2003, we had a total of 566 employees. From time to time we also employ independent contractors to support our professional services, product
development, sales, marketing and business development organizations. Our employees are not represented by any labor union and are not organized under a
collective bargaining agreement, and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe our relations with our employees are good.
COMPANY INFORMATION
Our website is located at www.redhat.com. This Annual Report on Form 10−K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10−Q, Current Reports on Form 8−K, and all
amendments to these reports, as well as proxy statements and other information we file with or furnish to the SEC are available free of charge on our website. We
make these documents available as soon as reasonably practicable after we file or furnish them to the SEC. Except as otherwise stated in these documents, the
information contained on our website or available by hyperlink from our website is not incorporated by reference into this report or any other documents we file
with or furnish to the SEC.
ITEM 2

PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are currently located in a leased facility in Raleigh, North Carolina, which consists of approximately 120,000 square feet. In January 2002, we
assumed this lease from an unrelated third party. The lease, which has an original term of 20 years, will expire on June 10, 2020. The annual rental expense under
this lease is approximately $1.4 million.
We also lease offices in Mountain View, California; Westford, Massachusetts; Tyson’s Corner, Virginia; Huntsville, Alabama; Toronto, Canada; Tokyo, Japan;
and several locations throughout Europe and Australia. We believe that our properties have been satisfactorily maintained, are in good condition and are suitable
for our operations.
ITEM 3

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Commencing on or about March 29, 2001, the Company and certain of its officers and directors were named as defendants in a series of purported class action
suits arising out of the Company’s initial public offering and secondary offering. There are approximately 1,000 of these purported securities class actions against
approximately 310 issuers, including the approximately twelve complaints against Red Hat. On August 8, 2001, Chief Judge Mukasey of the federal district court
for the Southern District of New York issued an order that transferred all of the so−called IPO allocation actions, including the complaints involving the
Company, to Judge Scheindlin for coordinated pre−trial proceedings. The court has consolidated the actions by issuer, and the Red Hat actions have been
consolidated into a single action double captioned as In re Initial Public Offering Sec. Litig., 21 MC 92 (S.D.N.Y.) and In re Red Hat, Inc. Initial Public Offering
Sec. Litig., 01 Civ. 2712 (S.D.N.Y.). The court has appointed Saul Kassin as lead plaintiff in the Red Hat action. The defendants consist of the underwriter
defendants, including Goldman Sachs, JP Morgan, Credit Suisse and Merrill Lynch, and the issuer defendants, including the Company, Robert F. Young,
Matthew J. Szulik, Marc Ewing, Manoj K. George, Frank
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Batten and David G. Schummanfang, all present or former officers or directors of the Company. The plaintiffs contend that the defendants violated federal
securities laws by filing registration statements and distributing prospectuses that contained materially false and misleading information and failed to disclose
material information. Plaintiffs also challenge certain IPO allocation practices by underwriters and the lack of disclosure thereof in initial public offering
documents. On April 19, 2002, plaintiffs filed amended complaints in each of the 310 consolidated actions, including the Red Hat action. The relief sought
consists of unspecified damages. The individual directors and officers (both present and former) who are defendants in the case have been dismissed from the
case without prejudice. A motion on behalf of the issuers seeking dismissal has been heard and denied. No discovery has occurred to date. The Company believes
these complaints are without merit and will defend itself vigorously in this matter. No assurance can be given, however, that this matter will be resolved in the
Company’s favor.
In addition to the litigation described above, we experience other routine litigation in the normal course of our business. We believe that the outcome of this
routine litigation will not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
ITEM 4

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2003.
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PART II

ITEM 5

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Market Information
The Company’s common stock is traded on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “RHAT”. The chart below sets forth the high and low bid information
for the quarters of the fiscal years ended February 28, 2003 and February 28, 2002 in which the Company was publicly traded.
FY 2003
Quarter

High

First
Second
Third
Fourth

$
$
$
$

7.32
5.87
6.97
6.45

FY 2002
Low

$
$
$
$

4.37
4.33
3.75
5.06

High

$
$
$
$

6.78
5.55
7.98
9.00

Low

$
$
$
$

4.28
3.40
3.02
5.89

Holders
As of April 30, 2003 the Company estimates there were 136,000 registered stockholders of record of the Company’s common stock.
Dividends
The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock. In February 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of Planning
Technologies, Inc. (“PTI”), which was accounted for as a pooling of interests. Prior to its acquisition by Red Hat, PTI paid dividends of $3.9 million to its
shareholders in connection with the acquisition of a division of another company. The Company anticipates that its future earnings will be retained for the
operation and expansion of the Company’s business and does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Equity Compensation Plans
The information under the heading “Equity Compensation Plans” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held
July 31, 2003, which management expects to file on or before June 30, 2003, is hereby incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 6

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data is derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements, related notes, and other financial information included herein.
Year Ended
February 28,
2003

February 28,
2002

February 28,
2001

February 29,
2000

February 28,
1999

(in thousands, except per share data)

SELECTED STATEMENT OF
OPERATIONS DATA
Subscription and services revenue:
Subscription:
Enterprise technologies
Retail
Embedded

$

30,438
14,833
3,321

$

17,734
19,054
5,512

$

16,260
20,604
8,634

$

2,354
12,875
10,123

$

—
10,013
12,090

Total subscription revenue
Services:
Enterprise technology services
Embedded development services

48,592

42,300

45,498

25,352

22,103

38,522
3,812

24,354
12,256

16,002
19,332

3,879
13,196

10,152
777

Total services revenue

42,334

36,610

35,334

17,075

10,929

Total subscription and services revenue
Hardware resale revenue
Gross profit
Loss from continuing operations
Other income, net
Loss from discontinued operations
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations
Net loss
Earnings Per Share Data Basic and Diluted:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations

$

Net loss
Weighted average shares outstanding (a)
BALANCE SHEET DATA
Total cash and investments in debt securities (short and long
term)
Working capital
Working capital (including long term investments in debt
securities
Total assets
Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities
Mandatorily redeemable preferred stock
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)

$

(a)

$

$
$
$
$
$
$

90,926
—
59,464
(17,164)
10,826
—
(261)
(6,599)

$
$
$
$
$
$

78,910
—
50,395
(135,049)
15,535
(10,355)
(10,347)
(140,216)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

80,832
777
45,687
(95,178)
20,766
(12,303)
—
(86,715)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

42,427
11,954
19,590
(43,913)
4,070
(2,584)
—
(42,427)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

33,032
25,601
20,316
(5,105)
(683)
(600)
—
(6,388)

$

(0.04)

$

(0.71)

$

(0.45)

$

(0.39)

$

(0.10)

(0.00)
(0.00)
(0.04)
170,158

(0.06)
(0.06)

(0.08)
(0.00)

(0.02)
(0.00)

(0.01)
(0.00)

$

(0.83)
169,451

$

(0.53)
164,659

$

(0.41)
102,465

$

(0.11)
49,578

$ 292,340
$ 73,188

$
$

286,977
81,594

$
$

302,681
138,990

$
$

349,497
257,365

$
$

21,985
14,521

$ 275,062
$ 390,339
$
1,393
$
—
$ 336,421

$
$
$
$
$

272,175
369,865
1,563
—
327,549

$
$
$
$
$

293,547
505,251
277
—
464,282

$
$
$
$
$

329,719
434,861
231
—
401,167

$
$
$
$
$

14,521
39,158
1,399
18,359
(166)

All share and per share information has been retroactively restated to reflect the two−for−one splits of common stock on each of August 11, 1999 and
January 7, 2000 and the acquisitions of Cygnus Solutions and Planning Technologies, Inc., using the pooling of interests method of accounting, on January
7, 2000 and February 23, 2001, respectively.
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ITEM 7

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward−looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10−K are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. Investors are cautioned that statements in this Annual Report on Form 10−K that are not strictly historical statements, including, without limitation,
statements regarding current or future financial performance, management’s plans and objectives for future operations, product plans and performance,
management’s assessment of market factors, and statements regarding the strategy and plans of Red Hat and its strategic partners, constitute forward−looking
statements. These forward−looking statements are not guarantees of Red Hat’s future performance and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that
could cause Red Hat’s actual results in the future to differ materially from the forward−looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, without
limitation, the risks detailed below and in Red Hat’s other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, copies of which may be accessed through the
SEC’s web site at http://www.sec.gov.
OVERVIEW
We are the recognized global technology and brand leader in providing an enterprise operating platform based on open source technology for the information
technology infrastructure of the Global 2000. We apply our technology leadership to create our enterprise operating platform, Red Hat Enterprise Linux and
related layered infrastructure technology solutions based on open source technology. Our enterprise solutions meet the functionality requirements and
performance demands of the large enterprise and the third−party computer hardware and third−party software applications that are critical to the large enterprise.
In April 2002, we launched the first in a line of Red Hat Enterprise Linux solutions for large enterprise customers; Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS. Red Hat
Enterprise Linux AS was available for shipment in May 2002. Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS was developed to compete with proprietary Unix and Windows 2000
as the primary operating platform for applications in the middle tier and data center of the information technology infrastructure of large enterprises. In March
2003, we launched three additional technology solutions in the Red Hat Enterprise Linux line: Red Hat Enterprise Linux ES, Red Hat Enterprise Linux WS and
Red Hat Enterprise Network. Red Hat Enterprise Linux ES and WS broaden the areas of the information technology infrastructure to which our enterprise
operating platforms are relevant. For the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003, we sold approximately 36,500 subscriptions to our Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS
platform. This significantly exceeded management’s expectations of the number of subscriptions to be sold in the initial year of the release of the Red Hat
Enterprise Linux technologies. Red Hat Enterprise Network broadens our systems management service offerings for the large enterprise.
We provide the CIO of the largest companies in the world with the choice of a Red Hat Enterprise Linux operating platform for all application areas of the
information technology infrastructure of the enterprise including the technical/developer workstation, the edge of the network, the middle tier of the information
technology infrastructure and the data center. Red Hat Enterprise Network provides an integrated management service that allows our Red Hat Enterprise Linux
technologies to be updated and configured and the performance of these technologies to be monitored in an automated fashion. These technology solutions, and
the enterprise technology and systems management service offerings that will follow them, reflect our commitment to provide an enterprise−wide infrastructure
platform based on open source technology. Our ability to continue to increase market penetration and maintain competitive pricing for our enterprise technology
subscriptions are critical to our success.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Our critical accounting policies include the following:
•

revenue recognition; and

•

impairment of long−lived assets
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Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue in accordance with Statement of Position No. 97−2, “Software Revenue Recognition” (“SOP 97−2”), as amended by SOP 98−4 and SOP
98−9, and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”). Revenue recognition in accordance with these pronouncements can be complex due to the nature and
variability of our sales transactions.
Subscription Revenue
Subscription revenue is comprised of enterprise retail and embedded revenues.
Enterprise subscription revenue is comprised primarily of revenue from sales of Red Hat Enterprise Linux software solutions, Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web
Server, software development tools, and technical support and maintenance fees. During fiscal 2003, we released the first of our Red Hat Enterprise Linux
offerings, Red Hat AS, ES and WS. Our Red Hat Enterprise Linux products have a one year base subscription period. The base subscription entitles the end user
to one year of maintenance, which entitles the end user to configuration support and updates and upgrades to the technology, when and if available, during the
term of the subscriptions. We recognize revenue from the sale of our enterprise offerings ratably over the period of the subscription. Our subscription
relationships with our large enterprise customers typically have contracts with multiple elements (i.e., delivered and undelivered products, maintenance and other
services). We allocate revenue to each component of the contract based on objective evidence of its fair value, which is specific to us. The fair value of each
element is based on the price if sold separately. Enterprise subscription revenue also includes revenue from several large Unix to Linux migration arrangements
which were sold prior to the release of Red Hat Enterprise Linux in May 2002. Revenue from these arrangements has been recognized ratably over the term of
the arrangement, as no other pattern of performance has been discernible nor has there been specific evidence of the fair value of the elements of these
arrangements. These arrangements all reached maturity during fiscal 2003 and have been replaced by subscriptions to Red Hat Enterprise Linux. With the release
of Red Hat Enterprise Linux, we believe that we now have specific evidence of the fair value of the elements of these larger enterprise arrangements and allocate
revenue accordingly.
Our current release at February 28, 2003 was Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS 2.1 which was first shipped in May 2002. We sell Red Hat Linux subscription
solutions through four channels: direct sales, original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), value−added resellers and the Internet. Revenue recognition periods
for each channel are based on the subscription period with Red Hat that the end purchasers of the subscriptions from these channels receive, which is generally
one year.
In addition, our enterprise subscription revenue is partially derived from sales of subscriptions to Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server and Red Hat
Enterprise Network, and several other enterprise technologies that we distribute. Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server is available as a layered technology
on Red Hat Enterprise Linux, as well as other operating systems. Red Hat Network is an Internet−based or inside the corporate firewall based systems
management service to assure the security, availability and reliability of Red Hat Enterprise Linux, Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server, and other Red Hat
software solutions. Red Hat Enterprise Network is sold in the form of a monthly or annual subscription. Revenue is recognized ratably over the subscription
period.
Through our retail distributors, we sell Red Hat Linux consumer products. The retail product is currently offered in two versions: standard and professional. Each
version has a different level of Red Hat support and software applications provided. During fiscal 2003, we sold two different releases of Red Hat Linux (7.3 and
8.0). We also provide certain support and subscription services with Red Hat Linux for a period of time, not exceeding two months for no additional fee. We
recognize all of the revenue from the sale of Red Hat Linux
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ratably over the period that the subscription services are provided. A reserve for sales returns is recognized for sales of retail software products to distributors,
who have a right of return, based on the Company’s historical experience of sell−through to the end user by the distributor. The return rate experienced by the
Company over its last three retail product releases has averaged 18.0%. The fee is fixed and determinable, collection of the resulting receivable is probable and
product returns are estimable.
Embedded subscription revenue consists of revenue for technical support and maintenance services provided pursuant to software compiling, debugging, and
optimization agreements. Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the agreement, which is typically 12 months.
Services Revenue
Services revenue is comprised of enterprise technology services and embedded development.
Enterprise technology services is comprised of revenue for enterprise consulting and engineering services, and customer training and education. Enterprise
technology services are provided under agreements whereby customers pay us on a fixed fee or hourly basis to assist in the deployment of our enterprise
technologies. Enterprise technology engineering services represent revenues earned under arrangements with our OEM partners to add functionality to our Red
Hat Enterprise Linux line of technologies and is generally recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Revenue from customer training and education is
recognized at the date the services are performed.
Embedded development services are contracts for compiling, debugging, and optimization of various open source software technologies. Revenue is recognized
on the percentage−of−completion method, provided that we have the ability to make reliable estimates of progress towards completion, the fee for such services
is fixed and determinable and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.
Impairment of Long−Lived Assets
The Company evaluates the recoverability of its property and equipment and other assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long−Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144 requires that one accounting model be used for long−lived
assets to be disposed of by sale, whether previously held and used or newly acquired, and broadens the presentation of discontinued operations to include more
disposal transactions. An impairment loss is recognized when the net book value of such assets exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flows attributable
to the assets or the business to which the assets relate. Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the
assets.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended February 28, 2003 and February 28, 2002
Total revenue
Total revenue increased 15.2% to $90.9 million for the year ended February 28, 2003 from $78.9 million in the year ended February 28, 2002. The increase was
driven by significant growth in our enterprise subscription and services revenues of our business partially offset by a decline in the embedded segment of our
business.
Subscription revenue
Subscription revenue is comprised of revenue from enterprise technologies, retail technologies and embedded customers. Subscription revenue increased to $48.6
million for the year ended February 28, 2003 from $42.3 million for the year ended February 28, 2002.
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Enterprise technologies
Enterprise technologies revenue primarily relates to both direct and indirect sales of Red Hat Enterprise Linux and other related enterprise software solutions
such as Red Hat Enterprise Network and Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server. Enterprise technologies revenue increased 71.6% to $30.4 million for the
year ended February 28, 2003 from $17.7 million for the year ended February 28, 2002. For the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003, we sold approximately
36,500 subscriptions to our Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS platform. This significantly exceeded management’s expectations of the number of subscriptions to be
sold in the initial year of the release of our Red Hat Enterprise Linux technologies. In addition, Red Hat Enterprise Network, our systems management services
offering, increased revenue by $1.8 million for the year ended February 28, 2003. Our enterprise offerings are sold with annual renewable subscriptions and all
have 12 month revenue recognition periods to match the subscription period. Therefore, we will continue to recognize revenue on these subscriptions through
fiscal 2004 and expect to increase the number of subscriptions sold to Red Hat Enterprise technologies sequentially quarter over quarter during the next 12
months. We are focused on building the first layer of renewable enterprise subscriptions which will begin to renew in the third quarter of our fiscal 2004.
Retail technologies
Retail technologies revenue, which consists of sales of Red Hat Linux to consumers through either value added resellers or distributors, decreased 22.2% to $14.8
million for the year ended February 28, 2003 from $19.1 million for the year ended February 28, 2002. This decrease is due to our focus during fiscal 2003 on the
sale of subscriptions to our enterprise technologies to large enterprise customers rather than on the consumer market. We will continue to address the consumer
market with our Red Hat Linux release which occurs every six months. Retail technologies revenue has been separately stated on the accompanying Consolidated
Statement of Operations as this market is no longer a strategic source of revenue for the Company but instead represents a channel for providing leading edge
technology to sophisticated users. These users will help us improve this new technology to the point it has the stability to be introduced into our enterprise
offerings. We expect our retail revenues to decline slightly in fiscal 2004 as compared to fiscal 2003.
Embedded
Embedded subscription revenue decreased 39.7% to $3.3 million for the year ended February 28, 2003 from $5.5 million for the year ended February 28, 2002.
The decrease in embedded markets is primarily due to the continued weak performance of the semiconductor and telecommunications industries which has
impacted research and development spending. We will continue to maintain a small but strategic presence in this market as we believe that a Linux/open source
platform will provide a significant value advantage in the future.
Services revenue
Enterprise technologies
Enterprise technologies services include fees received from enterprise customers for deployment of Red Hat Enterprise technologies, customer training and
education fees and fees received for adding certain functionality to Red Hat Enterprise Linux for our major hardware partners. Enterprise technology services
revenue increased 58.2% to $38.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2003 from $24.4 million in the year ended February 28, 2002. The increase in enterprise
technology services revenue is primarily due to an increase in the revenue earned from relationships with our OEM partners of approximately $7.7 million and a
$2.9 million increase in consulting services related to services performed for large enterprise customers for the deployment of Red Hat Enterprise Linux.
Customer training and education services revenue also increased 24.2% to $17.9 million in year ended February 28, 2003 from $14.4 million in the year ended
February 28, 2002. The increase in all components of our services revenues is the direct result of the continued migration of larger enterprises to our Red Hat
Enterprise Linux platform from a proprietary Unix platform and the momentum behind the acceptance of Red Hat Enterprise Linux as a mission critical
computing platform for the large enterprise.
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Embedded
Embedded services revenue decreased 68.9% to $3.8 million for the year ended February 28, 2003 from $12.3 million for the year ended February 28, 2002. The
decrease in embedded services revenues is due to the continued weak performance of the semiconductor and telecommunications industries which has impacted
research and development spending and due to our reduction in focus and personnel dedicated to this business to a small core team which maintains a strategic
presence in this marketplace. Revenues from this segment of our business will be flat to declining in fiscal 2004 as compared to fiscal 2003.
Cost of revenue
Cost of subscription revenue
Cost of enterprise subscription revenue primarily consists of expenses we incur to manufacture, package, distribute and support our solutions. These costs include
labor−related costs to provide technical support and maintenance, bandwidth costs for Red Hat Network, and expenses for physical media, literature, packaging,
and shipping. Cost of subscription revenue decreased 5.2% to $8.6 million in the year ended February 28, 2003 from $9.1 million in the year ended February 28,
2002. This decrease was related to a $1.4 million reduction in expenses incurred for physical media, literature, packaging and fulfillment related to our retail
product, which is consistent with the decline in retail revenues, partially offset by an increase in the cost of providing technical support and maintenance for our
enterprise products.
Cost of services revenue
Cost of services revenue is primarily comprised of salaries and related costs—including non−cash, stock−based compensation charges—incurred for our
personnel to deliver custom development, enterprise consulting, engineering, training and education, and hardware certification services. We incur no direct costs
related to royalties received from the licensing of our trademarks to third parties. Cost of services revenue increased $3.6 million or 19.9% to $22.3 million in the
year ended February 28, 2003 from $18.6 million in the year ended February 28, 2002. The increase is directly related to the increase in our enterprise
technologies services revenue. The cost of our customer training and education services increased $1.4 million and our enterprise consulting services increased
by $5.2 million related to headcount additions to our consulting staff. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $2.9 million in embedded
development services costs as a result of the restructuring of this segment which was completed in February 2002.
Gross Profit
Gross profit increased 18.0% to $59.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2003 from $50.4 million in the year ended February 28, 2002. This increase was
entirely due to the increase in revenue and profitability related to our Red Hat Enterprise Linux offerings which were introduced during the fiscal year ended
February 28, 2003 and carry significantly higher gross margins than our retail and embedded product offerings. The strength in growth and profitability of our
enterprise business was offset by the significant decline in the embedded segment which had gross profit of $2.9 million in fiscal 2003 as compared to $10.3
million in fiscal 2002.
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing
Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and other related costs—including non−cash, stock−based compensation charges—for sales and
marketing personnel, sales commissions, travel, public relations and marketing materials and tradeshows. Sales and marketing expense decreased 5.8% to $33.5
million in the year ended February 28, 2003 from $35.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2002. This decrease was
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primarily due to a reduction in our spend on marketing activities of $2.3 million partially offset by an increase in enterprise sales costs as we increased the size of
our direct outside sales force.
Research and development
Research and development expense consists primarily of personnel and related costs—including non−cash, stock−based compensation charges—for development
of software technologies and systems management offerings. Research and development expense increased 9.3% to $22.4 million in the year ended February 28,
2003 from $20.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2002. The increase in research and development expense resulted from increased spending of $4.8
million related to the addition of approximately 52 enterprise engineers during late fiscal 2002 and throughout fiscal 2003 to support the development and
integration of our Red Hat Enterprise Linux operating platform and Red Hat Enterprise Network, partially offset by a decrease of $2.9 million in non−cash
stock−based compensation expenses as certain deferred compensation balances were fully amortized during fiscal 2003.
General and administrative
General and administrative expense consists primarily of personnel and related costs—including non−cash, stock−based compensation charges—for general
corporate functions, including finance, accounting, legal, human resources, facilities and information systems expenses. Mergers and acquisitions expense
primarily consists of severance and related expenses incurred in connection with redundancies identified pursuant to mergers and acquisitions completed by the
Company. In addition to this, mergers and acquisition expense in years prior to fiscal 2003 includes legal costs incurred related to acquisitions accounted for
under the pooling of interests method of accounting. General and administrative expense decreased 19.4% to $17.9 million in the year ended February 28, 2003
from $22.2 million in the year ended February 28, 2002. This decrease resulted from a significant decrease in the number of companies acquired during fiscal
2003 resulting in, a decrease in merger and acquisition expenses to $522,000 for the year ended February 28, 2003 from $4.7 million for the year ended February
28, 2002 and a decrease in stock−based compensation expense of $1.8 million, partially offset by increased health and directors and officers insurance costs and
bad debt expenses.
Amortization of goodwill and intangibles
Amortization of goodwill and intangibles expense decreased to $1.1 million in the year ended February 28, 2003 from $49.5 million in the year ended February
28, 2002. The decrease in amortization of goodwill and intangibles is primarily due to the fact that for the year ended February 28, 2003, no amortization of
goodwill was recorded as prescribed by new accounting principles. Costs incurred for acquiring trademarks, copyrights and patents as well as capitalized
software are capitalized as intangibles and amortized using the straight−line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from three to five years.
Amortization of intangibles expense was not materially different from year to year.
Restructuring charges
Restructuring charges for the year ended February 28, 2002, which totaled $56.1 million, consist of an impairment of $49.3 million in the carrying value of
goodwill and intangibles related to acquisitions made in prior periods, various facility closings, and $5.7 million in severance and related expenses. These
restructuring charges were primarily due to a sharpening of the Company’s focus on providing an enterprise class operating platform, Red Hat Enterprise Linux,
to significant enterprises. As a result, the Company terminated certain employees of Planning Technologies, Inc., (“PTI”) and all employees of Hell’s Kitchen
Systems, Inc., (“HKS”) and Akopia, Inc. (“Akopia”) during fiscal 2002 as these technologies were aimed at the small and medium business market. In total, the
Company terminated 160 employees.
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In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, we completed the re−allocation of our resources to focus on the Global 2000 market which resulted in discontinuing our
network consulting business. The additional restructuring charge in fiscal 2003 of $1.5 million related to some additional severance for employees affected by the
restructuring which were not notified until after February 28, 2002.
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net consists of interest income earned on cash deposited in money market accounts and invested in short− and long−term fixed income
instruments, net of interest expense incurred on short−term debt and capital leases and foreign currency revaluation gains and losses. Interest income (expense),
net, decreased to $10.8 million in the year ended February 28, 2003 from $15.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2002. These amounts are net of interest
expense of $502,000 in the year ended February 28, 2003 and $172,000 in the year ended February 28, 2002. The decrease in interest income (expense), net,
from an average return on our investments of 5.2% in fiscal 2002 to a return of 4.3% in fiscal 2003, resulted from reinvestment of proceeds from the sales and
maturities of fixed−income investments in a declining interest rate environment that existed throughout fiscal 2003. In addition, we incurred foreign currency
losses of $829,000 in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 as a result of the weakening U.S. Dollar against the Euro and the Japanese Yen which reduced our other
income in fiscal 2003.
Discontinued operations
During January 2002, the Company adopted a formal plan to discontinue its network consulting operations. Accordingly, the network consulting operations were
accounted for as a discontinued operation beginning with the fiscal year 2001 consolidated financial statements. The Company completed the disposal of the
network consulting operations in February 2002 through termination of associated employees. Loss on disposal of discontinued operations of $10.3 million in
fiscal year 2002 included the write−off of goodwill recorded in PTI’s acquisition of Enterprise Network Systems, Inc., (“ENS”) of $9.6 million, severance and
related costs of $0.4 million, and a provision against accounts receivable of $0.3 million.
Years Ended February 28, 2002 and February 28, 2001
Total revenue
Total revenue decreased 2.4% to $78.9 million for the year ended February 28, 2002 from $80.8 million in the year ended February 28, 2001. Revenue from
international operations totaled $23.4 million and $20.0 million during the years ended February 28, 2002 and February 28, 2001, respectively.
Subscription revenue
Enterprise technologies subscription revenue decreased slightly to $36.8 million for the year ended February 28, 2002 from $36.9 million for the year ended
February 28, 2001. This small decline represents a reduction in Internet advertising revenues of $2.5 million to $2.3 million in fiscal 2002 offset by an increase in
enterprise subscription revenues of $2.4 million. The increase in enterprise subscription revenues primarily relates to sales of Red Hat solutions to large
enterprise customers. There were no major markets added during fiscal 2002 compared to fiscal 2001.
Embedded subscription revenue decreased 36.2% to $5.5 million for the year ended February 28, 2002 from $8.6 million for the year ended February 28, 2001.
The decrease in embedded markets is primarily due to the continued weak performance of the semiconductor and telecommunications industries which has
impacted research and development spending.
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Services revenue
Enterprise technology services revenue increased 52.2% to $24.4 million in the year ended February 28, 2002 from $16.0 million in the year ended February 28,
2001. The increase in enterprise technology services revenue is primarily due to revenues earned from relationships with the Global 2000 as a result of the
increasing level of interest and adoption by large enterprises of Red Hat Linux as an enterprise computing platform. Customer training and education services
revenue also increased 26.2% to $14.4 million in year ended February 28, 2002 from $11.4 million in the year ended February 28, 2001. The increase is the
direct result of the expansion of our course offerings over the past two years and migration of larger enterprises to the Linux platform, increasing the need to train
system administrators and developers.
Embedded services revenue decreased 36.6% to $12.3 million for the year ended February 28, 2002 from $19.3 million for the year ended February 28, 2001.
The decrease in embedded markets is primarily due to the continued weak performance of the semiconductor and telecommunications industries which has
impacted research and development spending.
Cost of revenue
Cost of subscription revenue
Cost of enterprise subscription revenue primarily consists of expenses we incur to manufacture, package, distribute and support our solutions. These costs include
expenses for physical media, literature and packaging, fulfillment and shipping, labor−related costs to provide technical support and maintenance and Internet
bandwidth costs for Red Hat Network. Cost of subscription revenue decreased 32.6% to $9.9 million in the year ended February 28, 2002 from $14.7 million in
the year ended February 28, 2001. This decrease was directly related to a reduction in expenses incurred for physical media, literature, packaging and fulfillment,
as well as efficiencies gained in providing technical support and maintenance of our products on−line, global consolidation of our support and maintenance
function and benefits of Red Hat Network in reducing support costs of Red Hat Linux−based systems.
Cost of services revenue
Cost of services revenue is primarily comprised of salaries and related costs—including non−cash, stock−based compensation charges—incurred for our
personnel to deliver custom development, open source consulting engineering, training and education, and hardware certification services. We incur no direct
costs related to royalties received from the licensing of our trademarks to third parties. Cost of services revenue decreased 9.1% to $18.6 million in the year
ended February 28, 2002 from $20.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2001. This decrease was primarily due to the reduction in number of personnel
dedicated to providing custom development services to semiconductor companies and device manufacturers.
Gross Profit
Gross profit increased 10.0% to $50.4 million in the year ended February 28, 2002 from $45.8 million in the year ended February 28, 2001. This increase was
primarily the result of our focus on operational efficiency, continuing to migrate the services we provide with our technology to be technology−based services as
opposed to people−based services, and in selling more strategic, higher margin product solutions to major enterprise customers.
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing
Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and other related costs—including non−cash, stock−based compensation charges—for sales and
marketing personnel, sales commissions, travel, public
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relations and marketing materials and tradeshows. Sales and marketing expense decreased 21.4% to $35.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2002 from
$45.2 million in the year ended February 28, 2001. This decrease was due primarily to reduction in redundant sales and marketing personnel and other variable
costs. These personnel came from acquisitions completed in late fiscal 2001. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in enterprise sales costs as we
began to increase the size of our direct outside sales force which sells into the Global 2000 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002.
Research and development
Research and development expense consists primarily of personnel and related costs—including non−cash, stock−based compensation charges—for development
of our software products and website. Research and development expense increased 9.3% to $20.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2002 from $18.8
million in the year ended February 28, 2001. The increase in research and development expense resulted from increased spending related to the development of
our first enterprise−class operating platform, Red Hat Advanced Server ($1.8 million), costs incurred to complete the aggregation, development and testing of
Version 7.1 and 7.2 of Red Hat Linux, and an increase in spending related to the development of software development tools for the enterprise.
General and administrative
General and administrative expense consists primarily of merger and acquisition costs and personnel and related costs—including non−cash, stock−based
compensation charges—for general corporate functions, including finance, accounting, legal, human resources, facilities and information systems expenses.
Mergers and acquisition expense primarily consists of severance and related expenses incurred in connection with redundancies identified pursuant to mergers
and acquisitions completed by the Company, as well as the employment costs of individuals within the Company who are dedicated to seeking out and
identifying potential acquisition candidates. In addition to this, mergers and acquisition expense includes legal costs incurred related to acquisitions accounted for
under the pooling of interests method of accounting. General and administrative expense decreased 37.2% to $22.2 million in the year ended February 28, 2002
from $35.4 million in the year ended February 28, 2001. This decrease resulted from:
•

a significant decrease in the number of companies acquired during fiscal 2002 resulting in a decrease in merger and acquisition expenses to $4.7
million for the year ended February 28, 2002 from $9.2 million for the year ended February 28, 2001;

•

a decrease in payroll and other administrative costs resulting from acquisitions completed in fiscal 2001; and

•

a decrease in stock−based compensation expense.

Amortization of goodwill and intangibles
Amortization of goodwill and intangibles expense consists of the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill, which represents the excess of
acquisition cost over the net assets acquired in business combinations, is amortized over its estimated useful life, which is three years. Costs incurred for
acquiring trademarks, copyrights and patents are capitalized and amortized using the straight−line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from
three to five years. Amortization of goodwill and intangibles expense increased to $49.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2002 from $41.7 million in the
year ended February 28, 2001. This increase was primarily due to the numerous acquisitions that were completed in fiscal 2001 and accounted for as purchase
transactions.
Restructuring charges
Restructuring charges consist of an impairment of $49.3 million in the carrying value of goodwill and intangibles related to acquisitions made in prior periods,
various facility closings, and $5.7 million in severance
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and related expenses. These restructuring charges were primarily due to a sharpening of the Company’s focus on UNIX migration opportunities. As a result, the
Company terminated certain employees of PTI and all employees of HKS and Akopia during fiscal 2002 as these technologies were aimed at the small and
medium business market. In total, the Company terminated 160 employees. There was no restructuring charge in fiscal 2001. In the fourth quarter, we completed
the re−allocation of our resources to focus on the Global 2000 market which resulted in discontinuing our network consulting business.
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net consists of interest income earned on cash deposited in money market accounts and invested in short− and long−term fixed income
instruments, net of interest expense incurred on short−term debt and capital leases. Interest income, net, decreased to $15.5 million in the year ended February
28, 2002 from $20.8 million in the year ended February 28, 2001. These amounts are net of interest expense of $0.2 million in the year ended February 28, 2002
and $0.4 million in the year ended February 28, 2001. The decrease resulted from reductions in short−term interest rates due to the actions taken by the Federal
Reserve Board and lower average cash and investment balances in the year ended February 28, 2002 as compared to the year ended February 28, 2001 due
primarily to the use of cash to partially fund operations and to pay merger and acquisition and restructuring costs.
Discontinued operations
During January, 2002, the Company adopted a formal plan to discontinue its network consulting operations. Accordingly, the network consulting operations were
accounted for as a discontinued operation beginning with the fiscal year 2001 consolidated financial statements. The Company completed the disposal of the
network consulting operations in February 2002 through termination of associated employees. Loss on disposal of discontinued operations of $10.3 million in
fiscal year 2002 included the write−off of goodwill recorded in PTI’s acquisition of ENS of $9.6 million, severance and related costs of $0.4 million, and a
provision against accounts receivable of $0.3 million.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have historically derived a significant portion of our liquidity and operating capital from the sale of equity securities, including private sales of preferred
stock and the sale of common stock in our initial and secondary public offerings, and from cash flows from operations. At February 28, 2003, we had total cash
and investments of $292.3 million, which is comprised of $45.2 million in cash and cash equivalents, $45.2 million of short−term, fixed−income investments and
$201.9 million of long−term, fixed−income investments. At February 28, 2002 we had total cash and investments of approximately $287.0 million.
At February 28, 2003, cash and cash equivalents totaled $45.2 million, a decrease of $10.2 million as compared to February 28, 2002. The decrease in cash and
cash equivalents during fiscal 2003 resulted primarily from: the purchase of investments in debt securities, net of sales of debt securities, of $8.3 million, cash
used by operations of $755,000, purchases of property and equipment of $6.8 million, cash used in the acquisition of a business of $1.2 million, and $764,000
used to fund stock repurchases. These uses of cash were offset by $4.9 million of cash raised from borrowings, net of repayments, and $3.0 million in cash
received from the exercise of common stock options and sale of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan.
Cash used in operations of $755,000 in the year ended February 28, 2003, represented the net loss of $6.6 million, an increase in accounts receivable of $8.0
million, an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $2.1 million, a decrease in accounts payable of $1.0 million and a decrease in accrued
expenses of $6.3 million. These uses of cash were partially offset by an increase in deferred revenue of $8.9 million, an increase in deferred lease credits of $1.6
million and net non−cash charges of $13.7 million. Cash used in operations during fiscal 2003 includes $2.5 million for payments of restructuring costs. In the
fiscal year ended February 28, 2002,
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cash used in operations was $7.5 million. The significant improvement in our cash flow used in operations in fiscal 2003 is a result of management’s increased
focus on improved operating results and preserving our cash balance, as well as a result of sales of annual subscriptions to Red Hat Enterprise Linux. We expect
to generate positive cash flow from operations in fiscal 2004.
Cash used in investing activities of $16.2 million was comprised of the purchase of investments in debt securities, net of maturities, of $8.3 million, purchases of
property and equipment—mainly computer software, hardware and computer networking equipment—totaling $6.8 million, and $1.2 million in cash used to
acquire a business. As market interest rates declined throughout the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003, the Company used cash and cash equivalents to
purchase fixed income debt securities to improve the yield on our investments. The $1.2 million used to acquire a business relates to cash paid in October 2002 as
part of the acquisition cost of NOCpulse, Inc.
Cash provided by financing activities of $5.8 million for the year ended February 28, 2003 was comprised of $4.9 million in net proceeds from borrowings from
our line of credit and $3.0 million in proceeds received from the sale of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan and from the exercise of common
stock options. This was partially offset by $764,000 used to purchase 200,000 shares of treasury stock during fiscal 2003, and $1.3 million in payments under
capital lease obligations.
At February 28, 2002, cash and cash equivalents totaled $55.5 million, a decrease of $29.7 million as compared to February 28, 2001. The decrease in cash and
cash equivalents resulted primarily from: the purchase of investments in debt securities, net of sales of debt securities, of $16.1 million, cash used by operations
of $7.5 million, $0.8 million in net cash used by discontinued operations, purchases of property and equipment of $6.8 million, acquisition of a business of $1.0
million, and $6.7 million used to fund stock repurchases. These uses of cash were offset by $7.2 million of cash raised from borrowings under our line of credit,
net of repayments, and $3.2 million in cash received from the exercise of common stock options and sale of common stock under our employee stock purchase
plan.
Cash used in operations of $7.5 million in the year ended February 28, 2002, represented the net loss of $140.2 million, a decrease in deferred revenue of $3.5
million, a decrease in accounts payable of $3.9 million and a decrease in accrued expenses of $7.5 million. These uses of cash were partially offset by a decrease
in accounts receivable of $9.4 million and net non−cash charges of $138.4 million. Cash used in operations includes $1.1 million for payments of restructuring
costs, $8.5 million for merger and acquisition activities and $0.8 million used by discontinued operations. In the fiscal year ended February 28, 2001, cash used
in operations was $39.6 million. The significant improvement in our cash flow used in operations in fiscal 2002 is a result of management’s increased focus on
improved operating results and preserving our cash balance.
Cash used in investing activities of $23.9 million was comprised of the purchase of investments in debt securities, net of maturities, of $16.1 million, purchases
of property and equipment—mainly computer hardware and computer networking equipment—totaling $6.8 million, and $1.0 million used to acquire a business.
As market interest rates declined throughout the fiscal year ended February 28, 2002, the Company used cash and cash equivalents to purchase fixed income debt
securities to improve the yield on our investments. The $1.0 million used to acquire a business relates to cash paid in fiscal year 2002 for a business acquired just
prior to the beginning of fiscal year 2002.
Cash provided by financing activities of $2.5 million for the year ended February 28, 2002 was comprised of $36.0 million in proceeds from borrowings under
our line of credit, net of $28.7 in repayments of the borrowings under our line of credit, $634,000 in proceeds from the sale of common stock under our employee
stock purchase plan, and $2.6 million in proceeds from the exercise of common stock options. This was partially offset by $6.7 million used to purchase 200,000
share of treasury stock, $866,000 of notes receivable issued, and $402,000 in payments of capital lease obligations.
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We have experienced a substantial increase in our operating expenses since our inception in connection with the growth of our operations, the development of
our Red Hat Enterprise Linux technologies, the expansion of our services operation and our acquisition activity. Our capital requirements during the year ending
February 28, 2004 will depend on numerous factors including the amount of resources we devote to:
•

funding the development of our Red Hat Enterprise Linux solutions, such as Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS, ES and WS;

•

accelerating the development of our systems management offerings;

•

improving and extending our service offerings and the technologies used to deliver these offerings to our customers;

•

pursuing strategic acquisitions and alliances; and

•

making possible investments in businesses, products and technologies.

We have made substantial progress in reducing the amount of cash required to fund our operations. In fiscal 2002 and 2001, we used $7.5 million and $39.6
million, respectively, to fund our operations. In fiscal 2003, we used only $755,000 in cash to fund our operations. Excluding payments made for restructuring
costs expensed in prior periods, our adjusted cash flow provided by operations was $1.7 million in fiscal 2003. In the first quarter of fiscal 2003, we used $5.4
million in cash in our operating activities. In the second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2003, we generated $581,000, $1.0 million and $3.0 million,
respectively, in positive cash flows from our operating activities. We expect to continue to generate positive cash flows from operations during fiscal 2004.
Given the significant improvement we have made from using cash to fund our operations to generating $4.6 million in positive cash flows during the last nine
months of fiscal 2003, and the $292.3 million of cash and investments held at February 28, 2003, we do not anticipate the need to raise funds to fund our
operations either through the sale of additional equity or through the issuance of debt for the foreseeable future.
We believe that cash flow from operations will continue to improve; however, there can be no assurances that we will improve our cash flow from operations
from the current rate or that such cash flows will be adequate to fund other investments or acquisitions that we may choose to make. We may choose to accelerate
the expansion of our business from our current plans, which may require us to raise additional funds through the sale of equity or debt securities or through other
financing means. There can be no assurances that any such financing would occur in amounts or on terms favorable to us, if at all.
We have no off balance sheet financing arrangements and do not utilize any “structured debt”, “special purpose” or similar unconsolidated entities for liquidity or
financing purposes.
As of February 28, 2003, our principal commitments consisted of obligations outstanding under capital and operating leases. The following table summarizes our
principal contractual obligations at February 28, 2003 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods (in
thousands):

Total

Less than
1 Year

1−3 Years

3−5 Years

More than
5 Years

Capital lease obligations
Operating lease obligations

$

2,854
53,926

$

1,350
5,371

$

1,471
10,870

$

33
5,815

$

Total

$ 56,780

$

6,721

$ 12,341

$

5,848

$ 31,870

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
See discussion in NOTE 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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—
31,870

RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to our Business Model
We depend on the support of Linux developers not employed by us for improvements and advancement of our Red Hat Enterprise Linux technologies.
We may not be able to release major product upgrades of Red Hat Enterprise Linux on a timely basis because the heart of Red Hat Enterprise Linux, the Linux
kernel, is maintained by third parties. Linus Torvalds, the original developer of the Linux kernel, and a small group of independent engineers are primarily
responsible for the development and evolution of the Linux kernel. If this group of developers fails to further develop the Linux kernel or if Mr. Torvalds or
prominent Linux developers who are members of this group and are currently employed by Red Hat, such as Alan Cox, David Miller or Stephen Tweedie, were
to join one of our competitors or no longer work on the Linux kernel, we would have to either rely on another party to further develop the kernel or develop it
ourselves. We cannot predict whether enhancements to the kernel would be available from reliable alternative sources. We could be forced to rely to a greater
extent on our own development efforts, which would increase our development expenses and may delay our product release and upgrade schedules. In addition,
any failure on the part of the kernel developers to further develop and enhance the kernel could stifle the development of additional Linux−based applications.
We depend on collaboration with a wide range of companies with diverse interests in developing and selling Red Hat Enterprise Linux.
One of the appealing aspects of Red Hat Enterprise Linux to our business partners, such as Dell, HP, IBM, Intel, and Oracle, is the ability to suggest
enhancements to the technology. It is not unusual for the needs of those business partners to be in conflict with each other. At the same time, we are dependent on
the sales channels provided by these partners, some of which provide services that compete with our services, for the sale of Red Hat Enterprise Linux. We may
not be able to satisfy all the requirements of these business partners, or be able to offer the same range of services in support of Red Hat Enterprise Linux as these
business partners, and we may not be able to sufficiently incent their sales channels to promote Red Hat Enterprise Linux. Should we fail in any of these aspects
we may not be able to expand our business and/or increase our market share.
The scarcity of availability of software applications for Linux−based operating systems could prevent widespread commercial adoption of our products.
Our products will not be able to gain widespread commercial adoption by the large enterprise until there are more third−party enterprise software applications
that have been migrated to operate on Linux−based operating systems. These applications include databases, software development tools, enterprise middleware,
such as messaging and file system technologies. We intend to encourage the development of additional applications that operate on Linux−based operating
systems by attracting third−party developers to the Linux platform, by providing open source tools to create these applications and by maintaining our existing
developer relationships through marketing and technical support for third−party developers. If we are not successful in achieving these goals, however, our
products will not gain widespread commercial acceptance and we will not be able to maintain our product sales growth.
We may be unable to predict the future course of open source technology development, which could reduce the market appeal of our products and
damage our reputation.
We do not exercise control over many aspects of the development of open source technology. Historically, different groups of open source software programmers
have competed with each other to develop new technology. Typically, one of those groups develops the technology that becomes more widely used than that
developed by others. If we adopt new technology and incorporate it into our products, and competing technology
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becomes more widely used, the market appeal of our products may be reduced, which could harm our reputation, diminish the Red Hat brand and result in
decreased revenue.
There are few technology barriers to entry in the open source market.
One of the enduring aspects of open source software is that anyone can modify the existing software or develop new software that competes with existing open
source software. Such competition can develop without the degree of overhead and lead time required by traditional proprietary software companies. It is
possible for a competitor with greater resources to develop its own open source operating system solution, potentially reducing the demand for Red Hat’s
solutions.
Risks Related to Our Financial Results and Condition
We have incurred substantial net losses on a GAAP basis in the past.
We have incurred net losses in seven of our previous eight fiscal years, including our most recent fiscal year ended February 28, 2003. While we have
significantly reduced these losses and, we do not expect to incur significant losses in the future, we cannot be certain when we will achieve sustained
profitability. Failure to become and remain profitable may adversely affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to raise capital and continue
operations.
You should not rely on our quarterly results of operations as an indication of our future results.
Due to the unpredictability of the technology spending environment, our revenue and operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter. We base our current
and projected future expense levels in part on our estimates of future revenue. Our expenses are, to a large extent, fixed in the short term. We may not be able to
adjust our spending quickly enough to protect our projected operating results for a quarter if our revenue in that quarter falls short of our expectations. Our future
operating results may fall below expectations of securities analysts or investors, which may cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
We may not be able to effectively attract additional enterprise customers and preserve relationships with current enterprise customers, which could
adversely affect revenue.
Historically, we focused our sales and marketing efforts on product sales to individuals. In late fiscal 2002, we began to focus the predominant portion of our
sales and marketing efforts on expanding our enterprise customer base. To this end, we have invested extensively to attract enterprise customers. While we have
been successful to date in acquiring large enterprise customers, if we are unsuccessful in gaining additional large enterprise customers in the future, it will
adversely impact our future revenue growth.
We may not be able to continue to attract capable management personnel.
As we have built our management team over the past three years we have done so during a time of significant unemployment and downturn in the technology
sector. This has given us the opportunity to attract highly capable management personnel. However, our ability to retain key management personnel or hire
capable new management personnel as we grow may be challenged if the technology sector rebounds and companies with more generous compensation packages
or greater perceived growth opportunities compete for these same personnel.
We depend on our key personnel.
Our future success depends on the continued services of a number of key officers, including our Chief Executive Officer and President, Matthew J. Szulik, our
Executive Vice President−Engineering, Paul Cormier,
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and our Chief Financial Officer, Kevin B. Thompson. The loss of the technical knowledge and industry expertise of any of these people could seriously impede
our success. Moreover, the loss of one or a group of our key employees, particularly to a competitor, and any resulting loss of customers could reduce our market
share and diminish the Red Hat brand.
We may lack the financial and operational resources needed to increase our market share and compete effectively with Unix operating systems
providers, Microsoft, other established operating systems developers, software development tools developers and other service providers.
In the market for operating systems, we face significant competition from larger companies with greater financial resources and name recognition than we have.
These competitors, which offer hardware−independent multi−user operating systems for Intel platforms and/or UNIX−based operating systems, include
Microsoft, Novell, IBM, Sun Microsystems, Hewlett−Packard, and Unisys. Some of these competitors may in the future, produce and market a competing open
source operating system.
As we increase our services offerings, we may face competition from larger and more capable companies that currently service and support the Linux operating
system as well as other operating systems, particularly UNIX−based operating systems, due to the fact that Linux−and UNIX−based operating systems share
many common features. These companies, including IBM and Hewlett−Packard, may be able to leverage their existing service organizations and provide higher
levels of consulting and support on a more cost−effective basis than we can. We may not be able to compete successfully with these current or potential
competitors.
If we fail to establish and maintain strategic distribution and other collaborative relationships with industry−leading companies, we may not be able to
attract and retain a larger customer base.
Our success depends on our ability to continue to establish and maintain strategic distribution and other collaborative relationships with industry−leading
hardware manufacturers (such as Hewlett−Packard, Dell, IBM, Fujitsu and others), distributors, software vendors (such as Oracle) and enterprise solutions
providers. These relationships allow us to offer our products and services to a much larger customer base than we would otherwise be able to through our direct
sales and marketing efforts. We may not be able to maintain these relationships or replace them on attractive terms. In addition, our existing strategic
relationships do not, and any future strategic relationships may not, afford us any exclusive marketing or distribution rights. As a result, the companies with
which we have strategic alliances are free to pursue alternative technologies and to develop alternative products and services in addition to or in lieu of our
products and services, either on their own or in collaboration with others, including our competitors. Moreover, we cannot guarantee that the companies with
which we have strategic relationships will market our products effectively or continue to devote the resources necessary to provide us with effective sales,
marketing and technical support.
We may not be able to meet the operational and financial challenges that we will encounter as our international operations continue to expand.
As we expand our international operations, we will face a number of additional challenges associated with the conduct of business overseas. For example:
•

we may have difficulty managing and administering a globally−dispersed business;

•

fluctuations in exchange rates may negatively affect our operating results;

•

we have to comply with a wide variety of foreign laws;

•

we may not be able to adequately protect our trademarks overseas due to the uncertainty of laws and enforcement in certain countries relating to the
protection of intellectual property rights;

•

export controls and times of crisis could prevent us from shipping our products into and from some markets;
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•

changes in import/export duties and quotas could affect the competitive pricing of our products and services and reduce our market share in some
countries; and

•

economic or political instability in some international markets could result in the forfeiture of some foreign assets and the loss of sums spent
developing and marketing those assets.

Risks Related to Legal Uncertainty
We could be prevented from selling or developing our products if the GNU General Public License and similar licenses under which our products are
developed and licensed are not enforceable.
The Linux kernel and the Red Hat Linux operating system have been developed and licensed under the GNU General Public License and similar open source
licenses. These licenses state that any program licensed under them may be liberally copied, modified and distributed. We know of no circumstance under which
these licenses have been challenged or interpreted in court. Accordingly, it is possible that a court would hold these licenses to be unenforceable in the event that
someone were to file a claim asserting proprietary rights in a program developed and distributed under them. Any ruling by a court that these licenses are not
enforceable, or that Linux−based operating systems, or significant portions of them, may not be liberally copied, modified or distributed, would have the effect of
preventing us from selling or developing our products.
Our subscription−based distribution model is unproven and may encounter customer resistance.
The subscription agreement for Red Hat Enterprise Linux requires customers to agree to a subscription for Red Hat’s systems management services for each
machine on which they deploy Red Hat Enterprise Linux. At the same time, the subscription agreement places no restriction on the customers right to redistribute
Red Hat Enterprise Linux. While we believe this practice fully complies with the requirements of the GNU General Public License and while we have reviewed
this practice with the Free Software Foundation, we may still encounter customer resistence to this distribution model. To the extent we are unsuccessful in
promoting or defending this distribution model, we may fail to meet our revenue objectives.
Our products may contain defects that may be costly to correct, delay market acceptance of our products and expose us to litigation.
Despite testing by ourselves and our customers, errors have been and may continue to be found in our products after commencement of commercial shipments.
This risk is exacerbated by the fact that much of the code in our products is developed by independent parties over whom we exercise no supervision or control.
If errors are discovered, we may have to make significant expenditures of capital to eliminate them and yet may not be able to successfully correct them in a
timely manner or at all. Errors and failures in our products could result in a loss of, or delay in, market acceptance of our products and could damage our
reputation and our ability to convince commercial users of the benefits of Linux−based operating systems and other open source software products.
In addition, failures in our products could cause system failures for our customers who may assert warranty and other claims for substantial damages against us.
Although our license agreements with our customers typically contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential product liability claims, it is possible
that these provisions may not be effective or enforceable under the laws of some jurisdictions. Our insurance policies may not adequately limit our exposure to
this type of claim. These claims, even if unsuccessful, could be costly and time consuming to defend.
We are vulnerable to claims that our products infringe third−party intellectual property rights particularly because our products are comprised of
distinct software components many of which are developed by independent parties.
We may be exposed to future litigation based on claims that our products infringe the intellectual property rights of others. This risk is exacerbated by the fact
that much of the code in our products is developed by
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independent parties over whom we exercise no supervision or control. It is further exacerbated by our lack of access to unpublished software patent applications,
copyright registrations which fail to adequately disclose source code, and numerous issued software patents that are of dubious validity. Claims of infringement
could require us to reengineer our products or seek to obtain licenses from third parties in order to continue offering our products. Defending infringement
claims, even claims without significant merit, can be expensive. An adverse legal decision affecting our intellectual property, or the use of significant resources
to defend against this type of claim, could place a significant strain on our financial resources and harm our reputation.
Our efforts to protect our trademarks may not be adequate to prevent third parties from misappropriating our intellectual property rights.
Our most valuable intellectual property is our collection of trademarks. The protective steps we have taken in the past have been, and may in the future continue
to be, inadequate to deter misappropriation of our trademark rights. Although we do not believe that we have suffered any material harm from misappropriation
to date, we may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our trademark rights. We have registered some of our
trademarks in the Americas, Europe, Asia and Australia and have other trademark applications pending in each of those regions. Effective trademark protection
may not be available in every country in which we offer or intend to offer our products and services. Failure to adequately protect our trademark rights could
damage or even destroy the Red Hat brand and impair our ability to compete effectively. Furthermore, defending or enforcing our trademark rights could result in
the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources.
Risks Related to the Market for Our Common Stock
Our stock price continues to be volatile and you may not be able to resell your shares at or above your purchase price.
The trading price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to factors such as:
•

actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results;

•

new products or services offered by Red Hat or our competitors;

•

changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;

•

conditions or trends in the Internet, Linux and software industries;

•

changes in the economic performance and/or market valuations of other Internet, Linux and software industries;

•

announcements by ourselves or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

•

additions or departures of key personnel;

•

sales of common stock; and

•

other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control.

In addition, the stock market, and the Nasdaq National Market and the market for Internet−related and technology companies in particular, has experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of such companies. In addition, broad
market and industry factors may materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. In the past,
following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class−action litigation has often been instituted against such companies.
Such litigation, if instituted,
32

could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which would materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and operating results.

ITEM 7a.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk
The primary objective of Red Hat’s investment activities is to preserve principal and liquidity while at the same time maximizing yields without significantly
increasing risk. To achieve this objective, the Company maintains its portfolio of cash equivalents, short−term and long−term investments in a variety of highly
rated fixed−income securities, including both government and corporate obligations and money market funds. The following table presents the fair value
balances of the Company’s cash equivalents and short−term and long−term investments that are subject to interest rate risk by year of expected maturity and
average interest rates as of February 28, 2003 (in thousands):
Year Ending
February 29,
2004

Cash equivalents
Average interest rate
Investments
Average interest rates

$ 45,250
1.05%
$ 45,216
3.84%

February 28,
2005

February 28,
2006

February 28,
2007

February 29,
2008

Total

$ 45,250
71,598
4.28%

54,921
4.44%

61,242
4.70%

14,113
4.14%

$ 247,090

Red Hat did not hold derivative financial instruments as of February 28, 2003, and has never held such investments in the past.
Foreign Currency Risk
Approximately 30.0% of the Company’s fiscal 2003 revenues were generated by sales outside the United States. The Company is exposed to significant risks of
foreign currency fluctuation primarily from receivables denominated in foreign currency and are subject to transaction gains and losses, which are recorded as a
component in determining net income. Additionally, the assets and liabilities of the Company’s non−U.S. operations are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange
rates in effect as of the applicable balance sheet dates, and the revenues and expenses of these operations are translated at average exchange rates during the
month the transactions occur.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Red Hat, Inc.:
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of stockholders’ equity, and of cash flows
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Red Hat, Inc. and its subsidiaries at February 28, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February 28, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill upon the adoption of the accounting guidance of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 on March 1, 2002.
/s/

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 25, 2003
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RED HAT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands—except share amounts)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments in debt securities
Accounts receivable, net
Estimated earnings in excess of billings
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

February 28,
2003

February 28,
2002

$

$

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill and identifiable intangibles, net
Investments in debt securities
Other assets, net

45,250
45,216
17,429
6,978
799
4,659
120,331
22,972
40,828
201,874
4,334

Total assets

55,468
40,928
12,919
5,727
885
2,642
118,569
20,399
35,459
190,581
4,857

$

390,339

$

369,865

$

5,502
7,614
17,779
15,008
1,240

$

6,267
11,035
8,624
10,000
1,049

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Short term payable
Current portion of capital lease obligations
Total current liabilities
Deferred lease credits
Capital lease obligations
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none outstanding
Common stock, $.0001 par value, 300,000,0000 shares authorized, 172,917,782 and 171,659,334 shares issued, and
170,779,882 and 169,721,434 shares outstanding at February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively
Additional paid−in capital
Deferred compensation
Accumulated deficit
Treasury stock, 2,137,900 and 1,937,900 shares at February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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47,143
5,382
1,393
—

36,975
3,778
1,563
—

115
—

74
—

17
630,798
(2,403)
(290,404)
(7,436)
5,734

17
626,633
(5,984)
(283,805)
(6,672)
(2,714)

336,421

327,549

390,339

$

369,865

RED HAT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands—except per share amounts)
Year Ended
February 28,
2003
Subscription and services revenue:
Subscription:
Enterprise technologies
Retail
Embedded

$

30,438
14,833
3,321

February 28,
2002

$

17,734
19,054
5,512

February 28,
2001

$

16,260
20,604
8,634

Total subscription revenue

48,592

42,300

45,498

Services:
Enterprise technologies
Embedded development services

38,522
3,812

24,354
12,256

16,002
19,332

Total services revenue

42,334

36,610

35,334

Total subscription and services revenue

90,926

78,910

80,832

Cost of subscription and services revenue:
Subscription:
Enterprise technologies and retail
Embedded

8,625
496

9,097
790

12,896
1,764

Total cost of subscription revenue

9,121

9,887

14,660

Services:
Enterprise technologies
Embedded development services
Stock−based embedded development services

18,595
3,750
(4)

11,963
6,692
(27)

9,778
10,771
(64)

Total cost of services revenue

22,341

18,628

20,485

Total cost of subscription and services revenue

31,462

28,515

35,145

Gross profit enterprise technologies and retail
Gross profit embedded

56,573
2,891

40,082
10,313

30,192
15,495

Gross profit on enterprise technologies, retail and embedded revenue
Hardware resale revenue
Cost of hardware resale revenue

59,464
—
—

50,395
—
—

45,687
777
646

Gross profit on hardware resale revenue
Operating expense:
Sales and marketing
Stock−based sales and marketing expense
Research and development
Stock−based research and development expense
General and administrative
General and administrative—mergers and acquisitions
Stock−based general and administrative expense
Lease buyout costs
Amortization of goodwill
Amortization of intangibles
Restructuring charges

—
32,969
505
21,274
1,165
15,239
522
2,146
285
—
1,062
1,461

33,442
2,080
16,429
4,106
13,491
4,735
3,991
1,501
48,397
1,150
56,122

38,355
6,816
15,713
3,069
18,910
9,220
7,239
—
40,586
1,088
—

Total operating expense

76,628

185,444

140,996

(17,164)
10,826

(135,049)
15,535

(95,178)
20,766

Loss from continuing operations before extraordinary item
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations

(6,338)

(119,514)

(74,412)

—

(10,355)

(12,303)

Loss before extraordinary item
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations

(6,338)
(261)

(129,869)
(10,347)

(86,715)
—

Loss from continuing operations
Other income (expense), net

Net loss
Earnings Per Share Data Basic and Diluted:
Loss from continuing operations before extraordinary item
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations

—

131

$

(6,599)

$

(140,216)

$

(86,715)

$

(0.04)

$

(0.71)

$

(0.45)

$
$

0.00
(0.00)

$
$

(0.06)
(0.06)

$
$

(0.08)
0.00

Net loss

$

Weighted average shares outstanding

(0.04)

$

170,158

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(0.83)
169,451

$

(0.53)
164,659

RED HAT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)
Preferred Stock
Noncontrolling
Interest
In
Subsidiary Shares
Amount
Balance at February 29, 2000
Net loss
Adjustment for exclusion of
PTI January and February
2000 results of operations
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on investments
in marketable securities
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Other comprehensive income
Conversion of PTI Series A
convertible preferred stock to
common stock
Exercise of common stock
options and warrants
Issuance of common stock
under Employee Stock
Purchase Plan
Issuance of PTI common stock,
net
Common stock issued for
acquisitions
Deferred compensation related
to acquisitions
Deferred compensation related
to stock options
Amortization of deferred
compensation
Dividends paid to PTI
shareholders in April 2000
Decrease in shareholder notes
receivable

$

—
—

10,000
—

$ 7,900
—

Common Stock

Accumulated
Other
Additional Shareholder
Comprehensive
Total
Paid−In
Notes
Deferred
Accumulated Treasury
Income
Shares Amount Capital
Stockholders’
Receivable Compensation
Deficit
Stock
(Loss)
Equity
155,144
—

$

16
—

$ 480,697
—

(67)
—

(35,485)
—

(51,378)
(86,716)

$
—

0

$

(516)
—

(1,645)

—

—

$

401,167
(86,716)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1853

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1,144)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

709

709

(7,900)

974

—

7,900

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,389

—

5,220

—

—

—

—

—

5,220

—

—

—

79

$

—

(10,000)

—

$

—

—

(7)

$

(1,573)

—

—

—
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—

590

—

—

—

—

—

590

—

—

—

296

—

1,208

—

—

—

—

—

1,208

—

—

—

6,646

147,862

—

(15,905)

—

—

—

131,958

—

—

—

—

—

689

—

(689)

—

—

—

0

—

—

—

—

—

(447)

—

447

—

—

—

0

15,502

1

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—
74

—
—
—

—
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2,016)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(891)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2,907)

(2,907)

—

—

—

1,956

—

2,548

—

—

—

—

—

2,548

—

—

—

161

—

634

—

—

—

—

—

634

—
—

—
—

—
—

1,056
—

—
—

9
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(6,672)

—
—

9
(6,672)

—

—

—

—

—

(21,281)

—

21,281

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2,529)

—

2,529

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,540

—

(3,540)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

9,797

—

—

—

9,797

74

—

—

—

(5,984)

(6,672)

(2,714)

Net loss
Minority interest
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on investments
in marketable securities
Foreign currency translation
adjustment

—
41

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(6,599)
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

7410

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,038

Other comprehensive income
Exercise of common stock
options
Issuance of common stock
under Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

8,448

8,448

—

—

—

762

—

2,415

—

—

—

—

—

2,415

—

—

—

161

—

576

—

—

—

—

—

576

Balance at February 28, 2001
Net loss
Minority interest
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized loss on investments
in marketable securities
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Other comprehensive income
(loss)
Exercise of common stock
options and warrants
Issuance of common stock
under Employee Stock
Purchase Plan
Common stock issued for
acquisition earnouts
Common stock repurchase
Write−off of deferred
compensation related to
acquisitions
Deferred compensation related
to stock options
Deferred compensation related
to restricted stock
Amortization of deferred
compensation
Balance at February 28, 2002

168,486
—
—

171,659

17
—
—

17

67

643,712
—
—

626,633

—
—
—

—

—

—

15,502

—

(3,850)

—

—

(3,850)

—

—

—

—

—
—
—

193
—
—

(36,051)
—
—

(143,589)
(140,216)
—

(283,805)

67
464,282
(140,216)
74

327,549
(6,599)
41

Common stock issued for
acquisition earnouts
Common stock repurchase
Deferred compensation related
to stock options
Amortization of deferred
compensation
Balance at February 28, 2003

$

—
—

—
—

—
—

336
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

115

—

$

—

172,918

$

17

1,288
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(764)

—
—

1,288
(764)

(114)

—

114

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,467

—

—

—

3,467

$ 630,798

$

—

$

(2,403)

$ (290,404)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ (7,436)

$

5,734

$

336,421

RED HAT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Year Ended
February 28,
2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Effect on cash of exclusion of PTI January and February 2000 net loss
Depreciation and amortization
Stock−based compensation expense
Noncash restructuring charges
Write−off of goodwill
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
Write−down of equity investments
Noncash interest expense
Provision for doubtful accounts
Provision for inventory obsolescence
Loss on abandonment of property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Intangibles and other assets
Refundable income taxes
Accounts payable
Royalties payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Deferred lease credits
Payment of liabilities assumed in acquisitions

$

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investment securities
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Decrease in stockholders’ notes receivable
Proceeds from notes payable
Repayments of notes payable
Issuance of notes receivable
Proceeds from sale of common stock by PTI
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options and warrants
Purchase of treasury stock
Payment of dividends to PTI shareholders
Payment of capital lease obligations
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

(6,599)

$

(140,216)

February 29,
2001

$

(86,715)

—
6,519
3,466
1,359
—
—
41
—
147
2,107
88
290

—
59,720
9,766
1,887
48,958
10,347
74
4,250
40
1,533
—
1,859

(1,253)
54,997
15,564
—
—
—
—
—
—
2,689
746
72

(8,326)
(2)
(2,114)
(888)
—
(1,031)
—
(6,334)
8,915
1,604
—

9,405
(146)
396
(420)
—
(3,945)
—
(7,460)
(3,527)
—
—

(22,030)
(997)
228
(4,206)
92
(3,568)
(115)
7,585
611
—
(3,330)

(758)

(7,479)

(39,630)

(151,725)
143,463
(1,222)
(6,766)
—

(393,031)
376,909
(994)
(6,752)
—

(264,765)
148,964
4,678
(11,138)
30

(16,250)

(23,868)

(122,231)

—
68,380
(63,520)
—
576
2,415
(764)
—
(1,335)

—
35,956
(28,746)
(866)
—
634
2,589
(6,672)
—
(402)

67
5,500
(3,607)
—
1,208
590
5,221
(6,440)
(3,850)
(154)

5,752

2,493

(1,465)

1,038
(10,218)
55,468

(891)
(29,745)
85,213

45,250

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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February 28,
2002

$

55,468

(1,144)
(164,470)
249,683
$

85,213

RED HAT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1—Organization
Red Hat, Inc. together with its subsidiaries (“Red Hat” or the “Company”) is the recognized global technology and brand leader in providing an enterprise
operating platform based on open source technology to large enterprises for their information technology infrastructure. Red Hat delivers a single open source
operating platform, Red Hat Enterprise Linux AS, ES and WS, from the mainframe to the Intel server to the embedded device and the ability to remotely manage
this platform. The Company applies its technology leadership to create open source solutions that meet the functionality requirements and performance demands
of the information technology infrastructure of large enterprises and those third−party hardware and third−party software applications that are critical to large
enterprises. In April 2002, the Company launched the first in what will be a series of enterprise product offerings, Advanced Server, that reflects its commitment
to providing an enterprise class infrastructure platform based on open source technology. Advanced Server is a complete set of engineering, consulting, and
managed services offerings that enable large enterprises to capture the significant cost, performance and scalability benefits of their enterprise platforms.
Red Hat, Inc. is incorporated in Delaware. During January 2002, the Company adopted a formal plan to discontinue its network consulting operations.
Accordingly, the Consolidated Statements of Operations for fiscal 2002 and 2001 present the results of the network consulting operations separately from
continuing operations (see NOTE 4) for periods prior to and including such date.
NOTE 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly−owned subsidiaries. Entities which are not
wholly−owned, but for which a controlling financial interest is maintained by the Company are consolidated. The non−controlling interest of these entities is
presented as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet
date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers investments purchased with a maturity period of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Investments in Debt Securities
The Company’s investments at February 28, 2003 and 2002 are in debt securities which are classified as available for sale and carried at market value in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115 “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” (“SFAS 115”). These
investments are classified as either a current or long−term asset based on their time to maturity at date of purchase by the Company. Investments with a maturity
date of one year or less from the balance sheet date are classified as a current asset and those with a maturity date of greater than one year are classified as a
long−term asset. The average maturity period of the Company’s investment in debt securities was two years at February 28, 2003. The
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RED HAT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Company’s investments are considered available for sale as these securities could be sold at any time in response to needs for liquidity, changes in the
availability of and the yield on alternative instruments or changes in funding sources or terms. The Company has an unrealized gain (loss) of $6.7 million and
($739,000) related to these investments at February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively, which is recorded as other comprehensive income (loss), a separate
component of stockholders’ equity. The Company’s average rate of realized return on its investments portfolio was 4.3% in fiscal 2003.
Inventory
The costs incurred for duplicating the computer software, documentation, and training materials sold by the Company from the product masters and costs of
packaging these products for distribution are capitalized as inventory at the lower of cost or market using the weighted average method and charged to cost of
sales when revenue from the sale of units is recognized. Management periodically evaluates the realizability of inventory based on planned release dates of
product and training updates and records a reserve for obsolescence when necessary. The reserve for inventory obsolescence was approximately $94,000 and
$137,000 at February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Internal Use Software
In accordance with Statement of Position No. 98−1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use” (“SOP 98−1”),
the Company capitalized $5.9 million and $3.6 million in costs related to the development of internal use software for its website and systems management
service offerings during the years ended February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company amortizes the costs of computer software developed for
internal use on a straight−line basis over its estimated useful life which ranges from four to seven years. The carrying value of internal use software is included in
property and equipment on the Consolidated Balance Sheets (see NOTE 6).
Capitalized Software Costs
Capitalization of software development costs for products to be sold to third parties begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility and ceases when
the product is available for general release. The establishment of technological feasibility and the ongoing assessment of recoverability of capitalized software
development costs requires considerable judgment by management concerning certain external factors including, but not limited to, technological feasibility,
anticipated future gross revenue, estimated economic life and changes in software and hardware technologies. As a result of the Company’s practice of releasing
source code that it has developed on a weekly basis for unrestricted download on the Internet, there is generally no passage of time between achievement of
technological feasibility and the availability of the Company’s product for general release. Therefore, the Company has no capitalized software development
costs at February 28, 2003 and 2002.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is primarily comprised of furniture, computer equipment, computer software and leasehold improvements which are recorded at cost and
depreciated using the straight−line method over their estimated useful lives as follows: furniture and fixtures, seven years; computer equipment, three years;
computer software, three years; leasehold improvements, over the lesser of the remaining useful life of the asset or the remaining term of the lease. Expenditures
for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred; major expenditures for renewals and betterments are capitalized and depreciated. Property and
equipment acquired under capital leases are being depreciated over their estimated useful lives or the respective lease term, if shorter.
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Other Assets
Other assets includes security deposits which are expected to be refunded to the Company upon termination of certain leases, investments in other companies
accounted for using the cost method of accounting, and the long−term portion of the Company’s prepaid directors and officers insurance premiums, which is
amortized to general and administrative expense over the term of the insurance policy (see NOTE 8).
Impairment of Long−Lived Assets
The Company evaluates the recoverability of its property and equipment and other assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long−Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144 requires that one accounting model be used for long−lived
assets to be disposed of by sale, whether previously held and used or newly acquired, and broadens the presentation of discontinued operations to include more
disposal transactions. An impairment loss is recognized when the net book value of such assets exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flows attributable
to the assets or the business to which the assets relate. Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the
assets.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Statement of Position No. 97−2, “Software Revenue Recognition” (“SOP 97−2”), as amended by SOP
98−4 and SOP 98−9, and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”). Revenue recognition in accordance with these pronouncements can be complex due to
the nature and variability of sales transactions.
Subscription Revenue
Subscription revenue is comprised of enterprise, retail and embedded revenues.
Enterprise subscription revenue is comprised primarily of revenue from sales of Red Hat Enterprise Linux software solutions, Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web
Server, software development tools, and technical support and maintenance fees. During fiscal 2003, the Company released the first of its Red Hat Enterprise
Linux offerings, Red Hat AS, ES and WS. Red Hat Enterprise Linux products have a one year base subscription period. The base subscription entitles the end
user to one year of maintenance, which entitles the end user to configuration support and updates and upgrades to the technology, when and if available, during
the term of the subscriptions. The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of enterprise offerings ratably over the period of the subscription. Subscription
relationships with large enterprise customers typically have contracts with multiple elements (i.e., delivered and undelivered products, maintenance and other
services). The Company allocates revenue to each component of the contract based on objective evidence of its fair value, which is specific to the Company. The
fair value of each element is based on the price if sold separately. Enterprise subscription revenue also includes revenue from large Unix to Linux migration
arrangements which were sold prior to the release of Red Hat Enterprise Linux in May 2002. Revenue from these arrangements has generally been recognized
ratably over the term of the arrangement as no other pattern of performance is discernable nor had there been specific evidence of the fair value of the elements
of these arrangements. These arrangements all reached maturity during fiscal 2003 and have been replaced by subscriptions to Red Hat Enterprise Linux. With
the release of Red Hat Enterprise Linux, the Company has specific evidence of the fair value of the elements of these larger enterprise arrangements and allocates
revenue accordingly.
The Company’s current release at February 28, 2003 was Red Hat Enterprise Linux 2.1 which was first shipped in May 2002. The Company sells Red Hat
Enterprise Linux subscription solutions through four
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channels: direct sales, original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), value−added resellers, and the Internet. Revenue recognition periods for each channel are
based on the subscription period with Red Hat that the end purchasers of the subscriptions from these channels receive, which is generally one year.
In addition, enterprise subscription revenue is partially derived from sales of subscriptions to Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server, Red Hat Enterprise
Network, and several other enterprise technologies that we distribute. Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server is available as a layered technology on Red Hat
Enterprise Linux as well as other operating systems. Red Hat Network is an Internet−based or inside the corporate firewall based systems management service to
assure the security, availability and reliability of Red Hat Enterprise Linux, Stronghold Enterprise Secure Web Server, and other Red Hat enterprise software
solutions. Red Hat Enterprise Network is sold in the form of a monthly or annual subscription. Revenue is recognized ratably over the subscription period.
Through its retail distributors, the Company sells Red Hat Linux consumer products. The retail product is currently offered in two versions: standard and
professional. Each version has a different level of Red Hat support and software applications provided. During fiscal 2003, Red Hat sold two different versions of
Red Hat Linux (7.3 and 8.0). Red Hat also provides certain support and subscription services with Red Hat Linux for a period of time, not exceeding two months
for no additional fee. The Company recognizes all of the revenue from the sale of Red Hat Linux ratably over the period that the subscription services are
provided. A reserve for sales returns is recognized for sales of retail software products to distributors, who have a right of return, based on the Company’s
historical experience of sell−through to the end user by the distributor. The return rate experienced by the Company over its last three retail product releases has
averaged 18.0%. The fee is fixed and determinable, collection of the resulting receivable is probable and product returns are estimable.
Embedded subscription consists of revenue for technical support and maintenance services provided pursuant to software compiling, debugging, and
optimization agreements. Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the agreement, which is typically 12 months.
Services Revenue
Services revenue is comprised of enterprise technology services and embedded development. Enterprise technology services are comprised of revenue for
enterprise consulting and engineering services, and customer training and education. Enterprise technology services are provided under agreements where
customers pay the Company on a fixed fee or hourly basis to assist in the deployment of enterprise technologies. Enterprise technology engineering services
represent revenues earned under fixed fee arrangements with our OEM partners to add functionality to our Red Hat Enterprise Linux line of technologies.
Revenues under hourly arrangements are recognized as work is performed. Revenues under fixed fee arrangements are recognized either on a percentage of
completion basis or upon passage of time dependent upon the terms of each individual engagement. Revenue from customer training and education is recognized
at the date the services are performed.
Embedded development services are contracts for software compiling, debugging, and optimization. Revenue is recognized on the percentage−of−completion
method, provided that the Company has the ability to make reliable estimates of progress towards completion, the fee for such services is fixed and determinable
and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.
Stock−Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock−based compensation based on the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (“APB 25”), which states that no
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compensation expense is recorded for stock options or other stock−based awards to employees that are granted with an exercise price equal to or above the
market value per share of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. PTI’s stock option plan (see NOTE 15) provides the Company with the right of first
refusal, for a period of six months from the exercise date, to repurchase shares if the employee ceases to be employed for any reason. Accordingly, the options
are accounted for under the provisions of variable plan accounting as set forth in APB 25 whereby the Company recognizes adjustments to deferred
compensation for changes in the difference between the exercise price of the stock options granted and the fair market value of the stock at each balance sheet
date. Deferred compensation is amortized to compensation expense over the vesting period of the stock option. The Company recognized $3.5 million, $9.8
million and $15.6 million in non−cash stock−based compensation expense related to amortization of deferred compensation during the years ended February 28,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. In addition, the Company classifies the employer portion of tax liabilities paid upon exercise of non−qualified stock options
and warrants as stock−based compensation expense. The Company paid $352,000 and $1.5 million in tax liabilities related to stock options and warrants
exercised during the years ended February 28, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The Company recorded deferred compensation of ($5,000), ($120,000), and ($447,000) during the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
to reflect the difference between the aggregate market value of the underlying shares of stock and the exercise price of all stock options granted with an exercise
price below the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of the grant, and stock options granted under PTI stock option plans. Deferred
compensation is offset by $109,000 and $2.4 million of reductions in the years ended February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively, to record the termination of
employees prior to complete vesting of stock options for which deferred compensation was originally recorded. Deferred compensation in the year ended
February 28, 2002 is further offset by $21.3 million of reductions to record the termination of employees prior to satisfaction of employment requirements
pursuant to certain acquisitions. In addition, the Company recorded $3.5 million in deferred compensation during the year ended February 28, 2002 related to a
restricted stock award granted to an officer of the Company. This restricted stock award vests ratably over a period of two years and is reflected in the above
combined stock option activity. Amortization of deferred compensation totaled $3.5 million, $9.8 million and $15.5 million during the years ended February 28,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS 148, requires the Company to disclose pro forma information regarding stock option grants and warrants issued to its
employees. SFAS 123 specifies certain valuation techniques that produce estimated compensation charges that are included in the pro forma results below. These
amounts have not been reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations because APB 25 specifies that no compensation charge arises when the
exercise price of employees’ stock options and warrants equal the market value of the underlying stock at the grant date, as in the case of options and warrants
granted to the Company’s employees. The fair value of options and warrants was estimated using the following assumptions for the years ended February 28,
2003, 2002 and 2001:
Year Ended
February 28,
2003

Expected dividend yield
Risk−free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected life (in years)

0.00%
3.59%
97.74%
5
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Year Ended
February 28,
2002

0.00%
4.46%
102.08%
5

Year Ended
February 28,
2001

0.00%
5.75%
120.02%
5
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The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock
based employee compensation:
Year Ended
February 28,
2003

(6,599)
3,467

Year Ended
February 28,
2002

$

Net loss, as reported
Add: book compensation expense
Deduct: total stock−based employee compensation expense determined
under the fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects

$

Pro forma net loss

$

(34,652)

$

(190,784)

$

(160,925)

Earnings per share data basic and diluted:
Basic and diluted—as reported
Basic and diluted—pro forma

$
$

(0.04)
(0.20)

$
$

(0.83)
(1.13)

$
$

(0.53)
(0.98)

(31,520)

(140,216)
9,797

Year Ended
February 28,
2001

$

(60,365)

(86,715)
15,502
(89,712)

The weighted average estimated fair value of employee stock options granted was $4.22, $4.78 and $18.20 per share during the years ended February 28, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.
Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of costs, including salaries, sales commissions, and related expenses such as travel, of all personnel involved in
the sales and marketing process. Sales and marketing expenses also include costs of advertising, sales lead generation programs, cooperative marketing
arrangements, and trade shows. All costs of advertising, including cooperative marketing arrangements, are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense totaled
$1.2 million, $2.6 million and $3.4 million for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses include all direct costs, primarily salaries for Company personnel and outside consultants, related to the development of new
software products, significant enhancements to existing software products, and the portion of costs of development of internal use software required to be
expensed, and are charged to operations as incurred with the exception of those software development costs that are required to be capitalized.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets or liabilities for the temporary
differences between financial reporting and tax bases of the Company’s assets and liabilities and for tax carryforwards at enacted statutory tax rates in effect for
the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes
the enactment date. In addition, valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.
Foreign Currency Translation
The Euro has been determined to be the functional currency for the Company’s European operations and local currencies have been determined to be the
functional currencies for the Company’s Asian operations. Foreign exchange gains and losses, which result from the process of remeasuring foreign currency
financial
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statements into U.S. Dollars, are included in other income (expense), net in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. Foreign exchange gains and
losses which result from the translation of foreign currency transactions into U.S. Dollars where the local currency is the functional currency are included in other
comprehensive income, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Net foreign exchange gains (losses), included in other income, were ($0.8)
million, $397,000 and ($63,000) for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
Significant Customers and Credit Risk
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of temporary cash investments and trade
receivables. The Company primarily places its temporary cash investments with high−credit quality financial institutions which invest predominantly in U.S.
Government instruments, investment grade corporate bonds and certificates of deposit guaranteed by banks which are members of the FDIC. Cash deposits are
primarily in financial institutions in the United States. However, cash for monthly operating costs of international operations are deposited in banks outside the
United States. Deposits of cash outside the United States totalled $3.5 million and $1.7 million at February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations to reduce credit risk and requires no collateral from its customers. Management estimates the allowance for
uncollectible accounts based on their historical experience and credit evaluation. One customer accounted for 17% of the Company’s accounts receivable at
February 28, 2003. No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable as of February 28, 2002.
No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue in the fiscal years ended February 28, 2003 and 2002. Sales to one distributor
comprised 10% of total revenue for the year ended February 28, 2001.
Cash Flows
The Company made cash payments for interest of $142,000, $88,000 and $66,000 for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
Company made no cash payments for income taxes during the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001.
The Company acquired property and equipment through the assumption of capital lease obligations amounting to $2.9 million and $2.5 million for the years
ended February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Net Loss Per Common Share
The Company computes net loss per common share in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” (“SFAS
128”) and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98 (“SAB 98”). Under the provisions of SFAS 128 and SAB 98, basic net loss per common share (“Basic EPS”) is
computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted net loss available to
common stockholders per common share (“Diluted EPS”) is computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of
common shares and dilutive potential common share equivalents then outstanding. Potential common shares consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of stock
options. The calculation of net loss per share available to common stockholders does not include 8,437,951, 8,816,080 and 2,604,357 potential shares of common
stock equivalents for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, as their impact on net loss per share would be antidilutive.
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Segment Reporting
Management identifies the Company’s operating segments primarily based on differences in the nature of its products and services and on geographic location.
The Company’s operating segments are enterprise and embedded. These segments reflect the Company’s primary focus, sales of Red Hat Enterprise Linux and
Red Hat Enterprise Network subscriptions to large enterprises, and the fact that management has decided to maintain a small but strategic presence in the
embedded systems market. Retail subscription revenue is included in the enterprise segment. Performance of these segments is evaluated based on their
respective gross profit margins as disclosed in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Management evaluates the Company’s assets on a consolidated basis only. Accordingly, no information has been provided and no allocations have been made
related to segment assets.
The Company has international sales offices in the United Kingdom, France, Italy, Ireland, Germany, Hong Kong, Korea, Australia and Japan. The Company
manages its international business on a Europe−wide and Asia Pacific−wide basis. The following disclosure aggregates individually immaterial international
operations and separately discloses the significant international operations at and for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001 (in thousands):
North
America

Europe

Asia Pacific
and Japan

Total

Year Ended February 28, 2003

Revenue from unaffiliated customers
Net loss available to common stockholders
Total assets

$
$
$

63,715
(13,757)
373,661

$ 15,436
$ 4,295
$ 10,132

$
$
$

11,775
2,863
6,546

$
$
$

90,926
(6,599)
390,339

Year Ended February 28, 2002

Revenue from unaffiliated customers
Net loss available to common stockholders
Total assets

$
55,546
$ (141,287)
$ 357,708

$ 11,597
$ 1,385
$ 8,337

$
$
$

11,767
(314)
3,820

$
78,910
$ (140,216)
$ 369,865

Year Ended February 28, 2001

Revenue from unaffiliated customers
Net loss available to common stockholders
Total assets

$
$
$

61,598
(79,400)
493,541

$ 10,727
$ (4,389)
$ 7,334

$
$
$

9,284
(2,926)
4,376

$
$
$

81,609
(86,715)
505,251

General and Administrative—Mergers and Acquisition Expense
General and administrative—mergers and acquisition expense primarily consists of severance and related expenses incurred in connection with redundancies
identified pursuant to mergers and acquisitions completed by the Company. In addition to this, general and administrative—mergers and acquisition expense
includes legal costs incurred related to acquisitions accounted for under the pooling of interests method of accounting.
Comprehensive Income
The Company’s items of other comprehensive income (loss) are comprised of an unrealized gain (loss) on investments in marketable securities of $7.4 million,
($2.0) million and $1.9 million during years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively and a foreign currency translation adjustment of $1.0 million,
($891,000) and ($1.1) million during years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.”
SFAS No. 146 addresses the timing and amount of costs recognized as a result of restructuring and similar activities. The Company will apply SFAS No. 146
prospectively to activities initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS No. 146 had no significant impact at the point of adoption on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations or financial position.
In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN 46 requires an investor with a majority of
the variable interests in a variable interest entity to consolidate the entity and also requires majority and significant variable interest investors to provide certain
disclosures. A variable interest entity is an entity in which the equity investors do not have a controlling interest or the equity investment at risk is insufficient to
finance the entity’s activities without receiving additional subordinated financial support for the other parties. FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable interest entities in which an interest is obtained after that date. FIN 46 will apply as of September 1, 2003
to variable interest entities acquired before February 1, 2003. The Company believes that the adoption of FIN 46 will not have a material impact on its
Consolidated Statements of Operations or its financial position.
In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149 “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 149”). FASB
Statements No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”) and No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative
Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities”, establish accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments including derivatives embedded in other
contracts (collectively referred to as derivatives) and for hedging activities. SFAS 149 amends SFAS 133 for certain decisions made by the Board as part of the
Derivatives Implementation Group (DIG) process. SFAS 149 contains amendments relating to FASB Concepts Statement No. 7, “Using Cash Flow Information
and Present Value in Accounting Measurements”, and SFAS No. 65, “Accounting for Certain Mortgage Banking Activities”, SFAS No. 91 “Accounting for
Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases”, SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows”,
and SFAS No. 126, “Exemption from Certain Required Disclosures about Financial Instruments for Certain Nonpublic Entities”. The Company believes that the
adoption of SFAS No. 149 will not have a material impact on its financial position.
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity” (“SFAS 150”).
SFAS 150 establishes standards for classification and measurement in the statement of financial position of certain financial instruments with characteristics of
both liabilities and equity. It requires classification of a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances) because that
financial instrument embodies an obligation of the issuer. SFAS 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and
otherwise shall be effective on September 1, 2003. The Company believes that the adoption of SFAS 150 will not have a material impact on its financial position.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the fiscal 2003 presentation.
NOTE 3—Business Combinations
In late February 2001, the Company completed a merger with Planning Technologies, Inc. (“PTI”) by exchanging 6,319,704 shares of its common stock for all of
the outstanding common stock of PTI. In addition, approximately 2,414,927 outstanding PTI employee stock options were converted at the same exchange factor
into options to purchase approximately 253,219 shares of the Company’s common stock. The merger constituted a tax−free reorganization and was accounted for
using the pooling of interests method of accounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 16 (“APB 16”).
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Prior to the merger, PTI’s fiscal year ended on December 31. In order to conform PTI’s year end with the fiscal year end of the Company, PTI’s results of
operations for the months of January and February 2000 were excluded from all periods presented. PTI’s net loss for the months of January and February 2000
was $1.6 million. A debit to accumulated deficit was recorded to account for the effect of excluding the net loss of PTI for the months of January and February
2000, from the results of operations of the Company. Immaterial adjustments were made to conform PTI and the Company’s accounting policies. Certain
reclassifications were made to PTI’s financial statements to conform to the Company’s presentation. In connection with the merger, the Company recorded a
charge of approximately $1.7 million to operating expenses for costs incurred related to the merger at the date the merger was completed. These merger costs
consist primarily of $1.0 million in investment banking and filing fees and $0.7 million in costs of attorneys and accountants. Subsequent to February 28, 2001,
the Company recorded an additional charge of approximately $1.4 million to operating expenses for costs incurred related to the merger. These additional merger
costs consist primarily of $0.9 million in severance and other employee related costs and $0.5 million in costs to merge the information and accounting systems
of the Company and PTI.
The results of operations for the separate companies and the consolidated amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements are as follows (in
thousands):
Year Ended
February 28, 2001

Subscription and services revenue:
Red Hat
PTI
Hardware resale revenue:
PTI

$

77,951
2,881
777

Consolidated

$

81,609

Net loss available to common stockholders:
Red Hat
PTI

$

(72,277)
(14,438)

Consolidated

$

(86,715)

As a result of the fact that PTI was acquired in late February 2001, the results of operations above represent PTI’s results of operations prior to the date of the
acquisition.
In October 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common stock of NOCpulse, Inc. in exchange for 322,312 shares of the
Company’s common stock valued at $1.2 million, plus the assumption of $2.7 million in net liabilities. The excess of purchase price over the fair values of the
net liabilities acquired of $3.9 million has been recorded as goodwill.
In January 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of $816,000 and $400,000 of net tangible and intangible assets, respectively, from an unrelated third
party in return for the assumption of a capital lease obligation in the amount of $1.2 million. The acquisition of these assets was made in order to provide content
management and enterprise collaboration expertise to the Company.
In January 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common stock of Akopia, Inc. (“Akopia”) in exchange for $500,000 in cash
and 722,009 shares of the Company’s common stock, which
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were purchased at a cost of $6.4 million as treasury stock and immediately reissued in conjunction with the acquisition, and the assumption of all of the
outstanding Akopia stock options. Treasury stock issued in this transaction is netted in common stock issued for acquisitions on the Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders’ Equity. The fair value of the cash, shares and stock options issued for vested stock options of Akopia, together with the intrinsic value of stock
options issued for unvested stock options of Akopia, amounted to $7.6 million, plus the assumption of $691,000 in net liabilities. The acquisition of Akopia was
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and the excess of purchase price over the fair values of the net assets acquired of $7.6 million was
recorded as goodwill and $689,437 was recorded as deferred compensation in accordance with FIN 44. Pursuant to the Company’s restructuring plan, which was
adopted in February 2002, the remaining unamortized balance of goodwill of $6.1 million related to the acquisition of Akopia was written off in fiscal year 2002
(see NOTE 10).
In September 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common stock of C2Net Software, Inc. (“C2Net”) in exchange for the
issuance of 954,357 shares of the Company’s common stock, and the assumption of all of the outstanding C2Net stock options. The fair value of the shares and
stock options issued for vested stock options of C2Net, together with the intrinsic value of stock options issued for unvested stock options of C2Net amounted to
$42.8 million, plus the assumption of $1.8 million in net liabilities. The acquisition of C2Net was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
In July 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common stock of WireSpeed Communications Corporation (“WireSpeed”) in
exchange for the issuance of 1,461,119 shares of the Company’s common stock, and the assumption of all of the outstanding WireSpeed stock options valued, in
the aggregate, at $35.8 million, plus the assumption of $742,000 in net liabilities. The acquisition of WireSpeed was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. An additional $4.0 million in purchase price was recorded during the year ended February 28, 2001 upon satisfaction of certain performance
objectives.
In May 2000, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Bluecurve, Inc. (“Bluecurve”) in exchange for the issuance of 972,083 shares of the
Company’s common stock and the assumption of all of the outstanding Bluecurve stock options valued, in the aggregate, at $33.2 million, plus the assumption of
$1.0 million in net liabilities. The acquisition of Bluecurve was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Pursuant to the Company’s restructuring
plan adopted in February 2002, the remaining unamortized balance of goodwill of $15.2 million related to this acquisition was written off in fiscal year 2002 (see
NOTE 10).
The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information reflects the results of operations of the Company for the year ended February 28, 2001 as
if the acquisitions of Bluecurve, WireSpeed, C2Net and Akopia had occurred on March 1, 2000, after giving effect to certain purchase accounting adjustments.
These pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what the Company’s operating results would have been had the acquisitions actually taken place on
March 1, 2000 (in thousands):
Year Ended
February 28,
2001

Revenue
Net loss
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted

$
$
$
50

104,840
(103,019)
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NOTE 4—Discontinued Operations
During January, 2002, the Company adopted a formal plan to discontinue its network consulting operations. Accordingly, the network consulting operations were
accounted for as a discontinued operation beginning with the fiscal year 2001 Consolidated Statement of Operations. The Company completed the disposal of the
network consulting operations in February 2002 through termination of associated employees. Loss on disposal of discontinued operations of $10.3 million in
fiscal year 2002 included the write−off of goodwill recorded in the acquisition of ENS by PTI prior to PTI’s merger with Red Hat of $9.6 million, severance and
related costs of $0.4 million, and a provision against accounts receivable of $0.3 million. Network consulting revenues were $8.7 million and $21.8 million
during the years ended February 28, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The net assets of the network consulting operations included in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet of the Company as of February 28, 2002 were primarily comprised of $1.0 million of accounts receivable net of $0.4 million of accrued employee
severance and termination benefits.
NOTE 5—Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The activity in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended
February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001 is presented in the following table (in thousands):
Balance at
beginning
of period

2001
2002
2003
(a)
(b)

$
$
$

847
1,835
1,137

Charged to
income or
expense (b)

$
$
$

2,689
1,533
2,107

Balance at
end of
period

Deductions (a)

$
$
$

(1,701)
(2,231)
(1,366)

$
$
$

1,835
1,137
1,878

Represents amounts written−off as uncollectible accounts receivable.
Excludes $100,000 charged to expense by PTI during January and February 2000.

NOTE 6—Property and Equipment
The Company’s property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

Computer equipment
Software, including software developed for internal use
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

February 28,
2003

February 28,
2002

$

$

18,747
15,869
1,923
6,258
42,797
(19,825)

Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

$

22,972

35,346
(14,947)
$

Depreciation expense was $5.5 million, $5.5 million and $5.2 million for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Estimated
amortization of software developed for internal use is targeted to be $1.0 million for each of the years in the five−year period ended February 29, 2008.
Estimated amortization can be affected by various factors including future acquisitions or divestitures of products.
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NOTE 7—Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets
Identifiable intangible assets consist primarily of trademarks, copyrights and patents, which are amortized over the estimated useful life ranging from three to 15
years. Amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets was $1.1 million, $1.2 million and $1.1 million for the years ended February 28, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. Estimated amortization of identifiable intangible assets in future periods is not expected to be material. The following is a summary
of identifiable intangible assets (in thousands):
As of February 28, 2003
Gross
Amount

Trademarks, copyrights and patents

$ 4,196

Accumulated
Amortization

$

3,465

As of February 28, 2002
Net
Amount

$

Gross
Amount

731

Accumulated
Amortization

$ 3,125

$

Net
Amount

2,386

$

739

In conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 142, the Company completed the required transitional impairment test as of March 1, 2002 and the annual impairment
test as of February 28, 2003 and no goodwill impairment was deemed necessary. The following is a summary of goodwill by segment for the years ended
February 28, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands):

Balance at February 28, 2001
Add: acquisition
Less: impairment
Amortization
Impact of foreign currency fluctuations

Enterprise

Embedded

Consolidated

$ 112,770
—
(58,564)
(38,213)
(789)

$ 33,512
—
—
(13,996)
—

$

Balance at February 28, 2002
Add: acquisition
Less: impairment
Impact of foreign currency fluctuations
Balance at February 28, 2003

$

15,204
4,572
—
805

19,516
—
—
—

20,581

$ 19,516

146,282
—
(58,564)
(52,209)
(789)
34,720
4,572
—
805

$

40,097

During the year ended February 28, 2002, the Company impaired $58.6 million in goodwill, including $9.6 million from disposal of discontinued operations and
$49.0 million related to the Company’s restructuring in August 2001, associated with acquisitions completed in prior years. The Company’s decision not to
pursue technologies under development by acquired companies led to operating results that were less than had been anticipated at the time of the Company’s
acquisitions. No impairments were required to be recognized during the years ended February 28, 2003 and 2001. Goodwill and intangible assets amortization
expense was $1.1 million, $54.2 million and $49.8 million for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Through February 28, 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight−line basis over three years. Effective, March 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS 142 and no
longer amortizes goodwill. The following is a summary of reported net loss and net loss per share, adjusted to exclude goodwill amortization expense (in
thousands, except per share amounts):
Year Ended
February 28,
2002

Year Ended
February 28,
2001

Net loss
Add: goodwill amortization

$

(140,216)
52,209

$

(86,715)
40,086

Adjusted net loss

$

(88,007)

$

(46,629)

Adjusted net loss per share basic and diluted

$

(0.52)

$

(0.28)
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NOTE 8—Other Assets
Other assets were comprised of the following (in thousands):
February 28,
2003

Cost−basis investments
Notes receivable
Security deposits
Other

February 28,
2002

$

3,800
75
298
161

$

3,750
125
689
293

$

4,334

$

4,857

The Company recorded a non−cash write−down of $4.3 million in cost−basis investments of non−marketable equity securities during the year ended February
28, 2002. Fair value for non−marketable equity securities is estimated based on prices recently paid for shares in that company, as well as changes in market
conditions. The estimated fair values are not necessarily representative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a current transaction.
NOTE 9—Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable at February 28, 2003 and 2002 approximated their fair values due to
the short−term nature of these items.
The fair values of the Company’s short−term and long−term investments in debt securities at February 28, 2003 and 2002, differed from their historical cost by
$6.7 million and ($739,000), respectively. The Company had realized gains on sales of investments in debt securities of approximately $892,000, $1.1 million
and $58,000 during the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Following is a summary of the historical cost, unrealized gain (loss) and fair
values of the Company’s investments at February 28, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands):
February 28, 2003

Cost

Short−term corporate debt securities
Short−term government debt securities

$

Long−term corporate debt securities
Long−term government debt securities

34,730
10,055

Unrealized
Gain

$

347
84

Fair Value

$

35,077
10,139

44,785
179,961
15,673

431
6,153
87

45,216
186,114
15,760

195,634

6,240

201,874

6,671

$ 247,090

$ 240,419

$

February 28, 2002

Cost

Short−term corporate debt securities
Long−term corporate debt securities
Long−term government debt securities

$

40,593
167,428
24,227

Unrealized
Gain

$

191,655
$ 232,248
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$

335
(1,123)
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Fair Value

$

40,928
166,305
24,276

(1,074)

190,581

(739)

$ 231,509
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NOTE 10—Restructuring Charge
In fiscal year 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $1.5 million and $56.1 million, respectively. These restructuring charges were
primarily due to a sharpening of the Company’s focus on providing Red Hat Enterprise Linux and related technologies to the large enterprise. As a result, the
Company terminated certain employees of PTI and all employees of Hell’s Kitchen Systems, Inc. and Akopia, Inc. during fiscal 2002 as these technologies were
aimed at the small and medium size business market. In total, the Company terminated 220 employees. Restructuring charges consist of an impairment of $49.3
million in the carrying value of goodwill and intangibles related to acquisitions made in prior periods, various facility closings, and $6.9 million in severance and
related expenses. All restructuring actions were substantially completed in the first quarter of fiscal year 2003.
Details of the restructuring charge are as follows (in thousands):
Writedown of
Intangible
Assets, Including
Goodwill

Original restructuring charge
Non−cash charges
Fiscal year 2002 cash payments

$

Employee
Severance and
Termination
Benefits

49,311
(49,311)
—

Remaining liability at February 28, 2002
Fiscal year 2003 restructuring charge
Fiscal year 2003 cash payments

$

5,707
—
(4,084)

—
—
—

Remaining liability at February 28, 2003

$

—

$

—

Accrued expenses were comprised of the following (in thousands):
February 28,
2003
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$

1,623
1,233
(2,856)

NOTE 11—Accrued Expenses

Wages and other compensation
Trade
Restructuring
Idle−facility charge
Taxes
Other

Facility Exit
Costs

February 28,
2002

$

4,263
1,250
—
—
599
1,502

$

4,690
2,138
1,746
1,533
373
555

$

7,614

$

11,035

1,104
—
(981)
123
228
(351)

$

—
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NOTE 12—Income Taxes
The components of the Company’s provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
February 28,
2003

Current:
Foreign
Federal
State

$

Current tax expense
Deferred:
Foreign
Federal
State
Deferred tax expense
Net provision for income taxes

$

—
—
—

February 28,
2002

$

—
—
—

February 28,
2001

$

267
—
—

—

—

267

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—

—
—

$

—
267

$

The provision for income taxes in all periods primarily relates to foreign withholding taxes on foreign revenues earned by a U.S. Company. These withholding
taxes paid may be creditable against U.S. Federal income taxes in future periods. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at
February 28, 2003 and 2002, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:
Domestic net operating loss carryforwards
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards
Accounts receivable
Allowance for inventory obsolescence
Other accruals and liabilities
Intangibles
Research and development credit
Foreign tax credit
Compensation−related accruals

February 28,
2003

February 28,
2002

$

$

Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

54,336
1,666
510
35
35
—
1,452
1,053
890
59,977
(58,389)

Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed and intangible assets
Total deffered tax liabilities
Net deferred taxes

$

48,877
2,965
386
52
1,823
640
1,452
1,053
—
57,248
(56,705)

1,588

543

1,588

543

1,588
—

$

543
—

As of February 28, 2003 and 2002, the Company provided a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets since realization of these benefits cannot
be reasonably assured. An increase in the valuation allowance was recorded during the years ended February 28, 2003 and 2002 to reserve the increase in total
deferred tax assets during such periods due to uncertainty of realizability.
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As of February 28, 2003, the Company had Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $314.7 million and $304.0 million, respectively.
These net operating loss carryforwards expire in varying amounts beginning in 2011 and 2003 for Federal and state income tax purposes, respectively. The
utilization of the Federal net operating loss carry forwards may be subject to limitation under the rules regarding a change in stock ownership as determined by
the Internal Revenue Code. If the Company’s utilization of its net operating loss carryforwards is limited and the Company has taxable income which exceeds the
permissible yearly net operating loss utilization, the Company would incur a Federal income tax liability even though its net operating loss carryforwards exceed
its taxable income. A portion of the net operating loss carryforwards, $170.4 million, is reflected in additional paid−in capital with a full valuation allowance as
these net operating loss carryforwards are generated by deductions related to stock options and warrants.
The Company’s foreign net operating loss carryforwards expire in varying amounts beginning in 2005. The Company’s research and development credits begin
to expire in varying amounts beginning in 2009. Taxes computed at the statutory Federal income tax rate of 34% are reconciled to the provision for income taxes
for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001 as follows (in thousands):
February 28,
2003

Effective rate
United States Federal tax benefit at statutory rate
State tax benefit (net of Federal tax)
Foreign taxes
Foreign rate differential
Change in valuation reserves
Research and development tax credit
Acquisition related expenses
Nondeductible items

$

Provision for income taxes

$

0.00%
(2,244)
(80)
—
632
1,684
—
—
8
—

February 28,
2002

$

$

0.00%
(44,155)
(1,856)
—
—
28,173
—
17,814
24
—

February 28,
2001

$

$

0.00%
(29,393)
(987)
371
—
11,629
(325)
18,238
734
267

NOTE 13—Short Term Payable
In August 2001, Red Hat Inc. obtained a $10.0 million line of credit from a financial institution to use to meet the Company’s working capital needs and
subsequently increased this line to $15 million in May 2002. Borrowings under this line of credit bear interest at the 30−day LIBOR rate plus 1.00% (2.34% at
February 28, 2003). The line expires in August 2003 and is secured by an amount of the Company’s investments in debt securities equal to the outstanding
balance on the line of credit which is held in an investment account managed by this financial institution. At February 28, 2003 and 2002, $15.0 million and
$10.0 million, respectively, was outstanding under the line of credit.
NOTE 14—Common and Preferred Stock
Common Stock
The Company has authorized 300,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. Holders of these shares have one vote per share. Upon
the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, holders of common stock will be entitled to receive the assets of the Company after satisfaction of the
preferential rights of the outstanding preferred stock or any other outstanding stock ranking on liquidation senior to or on parity with the common stock.
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The Company purchased 200,000 and 1,937,900 shares of its common stock during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2003 and 2002, respectively, at an
aggregate cost of $0.8 million and $6.7 million, respectively. This amount is recorded as treasury stock on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
In January 2001, the Company purchased 722,009 shares of its common stock at a total cost of $6.4 million. These shares were all reissued in the acquisition of
Akopia, Inc. on January 17, 2001 (see NOTE 3).
Preferred Stock
At February 28, 2003, the Company has authorized 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. No shares of preferred stock were
outstanding as of February 28, 2003 or 2002.
NOTE 15—Stock Options and Warrants
Stock Options
The Company has a stock option plan that provides for the granting of either incentive stock options or non−qualified stock options. As of February 28, 2003,
33,496,225 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance upon exercise of options granted to any employee, officer or director or consultant of the
Company at terms and prices to be determined by the Board of Directors. The plan provides that the purchase price per share for each non−qualified option
should be set by the Board of Directors on the date of grant. The purchase price per share for each Incentive Stock Option (ISO) shall not be less than the fair
market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The maximum term for an option granted is ten years from the date of grant. Options granted under the
plan generally vest 25% upon completion of one full year of service and 6.25% on the first day of each subsequent three−month period.
PTI Stock Option Plans
Effective August 7, 1997 and June 1, 1998, PTI implemented two incentive stock option plans (the “Plans”). Under the Plans, the exercise price of incentive
stock options granted to key employees was required to be not less than the fair market value of the shares on the grant date. The options are exercisable ratably
from a vesting start date designated by the Board of Directors over a three to four year vesting period. The Plans also provide for stock appreciation rights and
stock bonus awards. No such awards have been granted under the Plans. In addition, the Plans provide the Company the right of first refusal, with no time
restrictions, to repurchase shares if the employee ceases to be employed for any reason. Accordingly, the Company recognizes adjustments to deferred
compensation for changes in the difference between the exercise prices of the stock options granted and the fair market value of the common stock at each
balance sheet date. Deferred compensation is presented as a component of stockholders’ equity in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and is
amortized over the vesting period of the stock options.
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Combined Stock Option Activity
The activity for the stock option plans for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001 is presented in the following table:
Weighted Average
Exercise Price Per
Share

Shares Underlying Options

Outstanding at February 29, 2000
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

15,107,232
8,173,849
(2,743,908)
(3,181,390)

$

Outstanding at February 28, 2001
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

17,355,783
11,514,134
(1,015,039)
(3,294,746)

12.07
4.78
2.49
11.21

Outstanding at February 28, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

24,560,132
7,001,500
(821,063)
(3,403,491)

9.17
5.63
3.21
11.17

Outstanding at February 28, 2003

27,337,078

$

8.97
18.91
1.94
23.02

8.19

The following summarizes information about the Company’s stock options at February 28, 2003:
Options Outstanding

Exercise Prices

$ 0.00−$ 13.40
$ 13.40−$ 26.79
$ 26.79−$ 40.19
$ 40.19−$ 53.59
$ 53.59−$ 66.98
$ 66.98−$ 80.38
$ 80.38−$ 93.78
$ 93.78−$107.18
$107.18−$120.57
$120.57−$133.97

Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
Contractual Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

23,430,958
1,842,781
1,455,930
172,412
13,100
71,981
13,800
16,506
167,050
152,560

7.70
7.20
7.30
6.60
7.00
6.90
6.90
6.80
6.70
6.80

$ 3.85
$ 20.81
$ 27.62
$ 42.86
$ 55.75
$ 73.03
$ 92.50
$ 101.79
$ 108.50
$ 133.97

11,442,832
1,220,224
928,029
137,533
9,005
54,106
10,350
13,066
128,649
114,415

$ 2.20
$ 20.87
$ 27.77
$ 42.87
$ 55.75
$ 73.03
$ 92.50
$ 101.79
$ 108.50
$ 133.97

27,337,078

7.70

$

14,058,209

$

Number
Outstanding

8.19

8.42

Stock Warrants
On October 10, 1995, the Company issued stock warrants, which were equivalent to nonqualified stock options, to purchase 7,480,800 shares of common stock
to three of its employees with an exercise price of $0.0001 per share. No stock warrants were outstanding as of February 28, 2003.
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The activity for the stock warrants is presented in the following table:
Year Ended February 28, 2002
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Share

Shares
Underlying
Warrants

Outstanding at beginning of year
Exercised

969,900
(969,900)

$ 0.0001
$ 0.0001

Year Ended February 28, 2001
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Share

Shares
Underlying
Options

3,614,900
(2,645,000)

$ 0.0001
$ 0.0001

Outstanding at end of year

0

N/A

969,900

$ 0.0001

Exercisable at end of year

0

N/A

969,900

$ 0.0001

NOTE 16—Commitments and Contingencies
As of February 28, 2003, the Company leased office space and certain equipment under various non−cancelable operating and capital leases. Future minimum
lease payments required under the operating and capital leases at February 28, 2003 are as follows (in thousands):
Operating
Leases

Fiscal Year

Capital
Leases

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
Thereafter

$

5,371
3,929
3,589
3,352
2,943
34,742

$ 1,350
1,091
289
91
33
—

Total minimum lease payments

$ 53,926

2,854

Less amount representing interest (at rates ranging from 3.2% to 9.3%)

(221)

Present value of minimum lease payments
Less current portion

2,633
(1,240)

Long−term portion

$ 1,393

Rent expense under operating leases was $4.2 million, $4.5 million and $3.7 million for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
In June 2001, the Company entered into a financing arrangement with a bank for approximately $500,000, the proceeds of which were used to purchase certain
networking equipment. This arrangement, which effectively functions as a loan, is secured by a certificate of deposit held at the bank for an equal amount. The
financing arrangement has a term of four years and bears interest at a rate of 6% annually. At February 28, 2003, the outstanding balance under this financing
arrangement was approximately $324,000. The certificate of deposit renews annually and allows for the amount therein to be reduced each year to correspond to
the outstanding balance under the financing arrangement at the renewal date.
In September 2001, the Company entered into a $3.0 million master lease facility (the “Facility”) with a bank to finance various equipment purchases made by
the Company. The Facility had an initial term of one year. The term of this Facility was extended one year in September 2002 and is secured by a marketable
debt security
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with a fair value of $5.2 million as of February 28, 2003. Each separate lease under the Facility may have a term up to five years and incurs interest at a rate
determined at the commencement of each separate lease schedule based on current money market conditions. At February 28, 2003, $1.9 million was outstanding
under the Facility.
In January 2002, the Company assumed the lease obligations of an unrelated third party for an office building which serves as the Company’s headquarters. This
lease terminates in June 2020. As compensation to the Company for assuming these obligations, the third party paid rent on the Company’s behalf from the
commencement of the sublease until February 2003, is allowing the Company the use of all furniture and fixtures, including building improvements, that were in
the building at the time of the commencement of the sublease, and paid the Company a certain monthly amount through October 2002, to offset the operating
expenses of this building, all of which was valued in the aggregate at $5.9 million. As a result of receiving these economic inducements, the Company capitalized
$3.6 million of furniture and fixtures on its balance sheet and initially recorded a long−term deferred lease credit of $3.8 million, which is being amortized as a
reduction to rent expense over the remaining term of the lease. As of February 28, 2003, the long−term deferred lease credit was valued at $5.4 million. The
furniture and fixtures are being depreciated over a period of seven years.
NOTE 17—Legal Proceedings
Red Hat Professional Consulting, Inc., formerly PTI, a wholly−owned subsidiary of the Company acquired in February 2001, along with its former directors and
some of its former principal shareholders is a defendant in a suit brought by a former employee. The plaintiff asserts, among other things, breach of various
employment agreements. PTI has filed an answer, affirmative defenses and counterclaims denying all liability and has filed a motion to dismiss which remains
pending. All discovery in the matter is complete. The Company has been indemnified in this matter by the former PTI shareholders and further believes that the
likelihood of a material loss is remote.
Commencing on or about March 29, 2001, the Company and certain of its officers and directors were named as defendants in a series of purported class action
suits arising out of the Company’s initial public offering and secondary offering. On August 8, 2001, Chief Judge Mukasey of the federal district court for the
Southern District of New York issued an order that transferred all of the so−called IPO allocation actions, including the complaints involving the Company, to
one judge for coordinated pre−trial proceedings. The court has consolidated the actions by issuer, and the Red Hat actions have been consolidated into a single
action. The plaintiffs contend that the defendants violated federal securities laws by issuing Registration Statements and Prospectuses that contained materially
false and misleading information and failed to disclose material information. Plaintiffs also challenge certain IPO allocation practices by underwriters and the
lack of disclosure thereof in initial public offering documents. On April 19, 2002, plaintiffs filed amended complaints in each of the 310 consolidated actions,
including the Red Hat action. The relief sought consists of unspecified damages. A motion on behalf of the issuers to dismiss the suits has been denied. No
discovery has occurred to date. The individual director and officer defendants have been dismissed from the case without prejudice. The Company believes these
complaints are without merit and will defend itself vigorously in this matter. No assurance can be given, however, that this matter will be resolved in the
Company’s favor.
Commencing May 23, 2002, the Company was named as defendant in a suit brought by The Monotype Corporation in federal district court for the Northern
District of Illinois alleging copyright and trademark infringement. The plaintiff contends that the Company infringed certain of plaintiff’s font software
copyrights and related trademarks in the Company’s retail distributions, versions 5.2 through the initial release of version 7.3. On December 4, 2002, the plaintiff
filed a second amended complaint adding allegations of violations of the
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Lanham Act, as well as the state unfair and deceptive trade practices acts under Illinois and North Carolina law. The relief sought consists of unspecified
damages. The Company has counterclaimed alleging plaintiff’s copyrights and trademarks are unenforceable and/or invalid. Discovery in the case is underway.
The Company believes the complaint is without merit and will defend itself vigorously in this matter. No assurance can be given, however, that this matter will
be resolved in the Company’s favor.
NOTE 18—Employee Benefit Plans
401(k) Plan
The Company provides a retirement plan qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) of 1986, as amended. Participants may elect to
contribute a portion of their annual compensation to the plan, after complying with certain limitations set by the IRC. Employees are eligible to participate in the
plan if they are over 21 years of age. If, however, an employee was employed by the Company prior to February 1999, the 401(k) plan covers such employee
regardless of age. The Company has the option to make contributions to the plan but did not make any contributions to the plan for the years ended February 28,
2003, 2002 and 2001.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In 1999, the Company’s stockholders approved the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan”), under which 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock could be sold to employees. All full−time U.S. and certain non−U.S. employees are eligible to participate in the Plan. The Plan provides that participants
may authorize the Company to withhold up to 10% of their earnings, on a semi−annual basis, to purchase shares of stock at a price equal to the lesser of 85% of
the fair value of the stock as of the first business day of the period or the last business day of the period. The Plan will terminate at the earlier of the date that all
1,500,000 shares have been sold or at June 2, 2009. During the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001, 160,477, 161,025 and 36,714 shares, respectively,
of the Company’s common stock were sold under the Plan.
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NOTE 19—Unaudited Quarterly Results
Year Ended February 28, 2003
4th
Quarter

3rd
Quarter

2nd
Quarter

1st Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

Subscription and services revenue:
Subscription:
Enterprise technologies
Retail
Embedded

$ 10,777
2,845
810

$

6,987
5,461
709

$

6,645
2,941
761

$

6,029
3,586
1,041

Total subscription revenue
Services:
Enterprise technologies
Embedded development services

14,432

13,157

10,347

10,656

10,691
768

10,071
1,050

9,943
945

7,817
1,049

Total services revenue

11,459

11,121

10,888

8,866

Total subscription and services revenue
Gross profit
Loss from continuing operations
Other income, net
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations
Net income (loss)
Basic income (loss) per common share (a):
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations

$ 25,891
$ 17,503
$ (2,358)
$ 2,085
—
$
(273)

$ 24,278
$ 16,090
$ (2,894)
$ 3,108
—
$
214

$ 21,235
$ 13,618
$ (4,699)
$ 2,747
—
$ (1,952)

$ 19,522
$ 12,253
$ (7,213)
$ 2,886
$
(261)
$ (4,588)

$

$

$

(0.01)

$

(0.03)

—

$

(0.00)

Net income (loss)
Diluted income (loss) per common share (a):
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations

$

(0.00)

$

0.00

$

(0.01)

$

(0.03)

$

(0.00)

$

(0.00)

$

(0.01)

$

(0.03)

—

$

(0.00)

(0.01)

$

(0.03)

(0.00)
—

—

—

Net income (loss)
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

(0.00)
170,656
170,656
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(0.00)

—
$

0.00
170,183
178,268

$

169,977
169,977

169,826
169,826

RED HAT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Year Ended February 28, 2002
4th
Quarter

3rd
Quarter

2nd
Quarter

1st Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

Subscription and services revenue:
Subscription:
Enterprise technologies
Retail
Embedded

$

Total subscription revenue
Services:
Enterprise technologies
Embedded development services
Total services revenue

5,290
3,754
1,017

$

4,060
5,390
1,440

$

4,025
4,522
1,448

$

4,359
5,388
1,607

10,061

10,890

9,995

11,354

7,126
1,382

6,274
2,889

5,519
3,413

5,435
4,572

8,508

9,163

8,932

10,007

Total subscription and services revenue
Gross profit
Loss from continuing operations
Other income, net
Loss from discontinued operations
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations

$
$
$
$
$
$

18,569
12,181
(32,823)
3,557
(2,637)
(10,347)

$ 20,053
$ 12,777
$ (15,561)
$ 3,514
$ (3,009)
—

$ 18,927
$ 12,593
$ (56,314)
$ 3,984
$ (3,020)
—

$ 21,361
$ 12,817
$ (30,351)
$ 4,480
$ (1,689)
—

Net loss
Earnings Per Share Data Basic and Diluted (a):
Net loss from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations
Extraordinary item−loss on disposal of discontinued operations

$ (42,250)

$ (15,056)

$ (55,350)

$ (27,560)

$

$

$

$

Net loss
Weighted average shares outstanding

$

(0.17)
(0.02)
(0.06)
(0.25)
169,593

(0.07)
(0.02)
—

$

(0.09)
169,242

(0.31)

(0.15)

(0.02)
—
$

(0.33)
169,968

(0.01)
—
$

(0.16)
169,003

NOTE: The quarterly financial data for the quarters presented above has been restated to remove the results of discontinued network consulting operations for all
periods presented.
(a)

Earnings per common share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly per common share
information may not equal the annual earnings per common share.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
PART III

ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information under the Sections “Election of Directors,” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” from the registrant’s definitive
proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on July 31, 2003 (the “Proxy Statement”), which is to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the registrant’s fiscal year ended February 28, 2003, is hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information under the Sections “Compensation and Other Information Concerning Executive Officers” from the Proxy Statement is hereby incorporated by
reference.

ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information under the Section “Securities Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” from the Proxy Statement is hereby incorporated by
reference.

ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information under the Sections “Compensation and Other Information Concerning Executive Officers” and “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” from the Proxy Statement is hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 14.
(a)

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on their evaluation as of a date within 90 days of the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10−K, the Company’s principal officer and principal
financial officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a−14(c) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

(b)

Changes in Internal Controls
There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date
of their evaluation. There were no significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, and therefore there were no corrective actions taken. However the design
of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there is no certainty that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goal under all potential future considerations, regardless of how remote.
64

PART IV

ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8−K.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report under “Item 8−Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”:
1. Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Accountants

35

Consolidated Balance Sheets at February 28, 2003 and 2002

36

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001

37

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001

38

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended February 28, 2003, 2002 and 2001

39

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

40

2. Financial Statement Schedules:
All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not required
under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.
3. List of Exhibits:
Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit

3.1

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of the registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S−1 (File no. 333−94775))

3.2

Amended and Restated By−laws, as amended, of the registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S−1 (File no. 333−94775))

4.1

Specimen certificate representing the common stock (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S−1 (File no. 333−80051))

10.1*

Red Hat, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S−1 (File no. 333−80051))

10.2*

Red Hat, Inc. 1999 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S−1 (File no. 333−80051))

10.3*

Red Hat, Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S−1 (File no. 333−80051))

10.4

First Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement by and among the registrant and the Investors and Founders listed therein, dated as of
February 25, 1999, as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S−1 (File no.
333−80051))

10.5*

Non−Qualified Stock Option Agreement by and between the registrant and Matthew Szulik (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S−1 (File no. 333−80051))
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Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit

10.6*

Incentive Stock Option Agreement by and between the registrant and Matthew Szulik (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S−1
(File no. 333−80051))

10.7*

Non−Qualified Stock Option Agreement by and between the registrant and Timothy Buckley (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.11
to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S−1 (File no. 333−80051))

10.8*

Incentive Stock Option Agreement by and between the registrant and Timothy Buckley (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S−1
(File no. 333−80051))

10.9

GNU General Public License (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S−1 (File no.
333−80051))

10.10*

Employment Agreement by and between the registrant and Matthew Szulik dated July 24, 2002

10.11*

Restricted Stock Award Agreement by and between the registrant and Matthew Szulik dated June 27, 2001

21.1

Subsidiaries of Red Hat, Inc.

23.1

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

99.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 dated May 29, 2003

99.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 dated May 29, 2003

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan, contract or management
(b)

Reports on Form 8−K:

None.
66

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
RED HAT, INC.
By: /s/ MATTHEW J. SZULIK
Matthew J. Szulik
President and Chief Executive
Officer

Date: May 29, 2003
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

MATTHEW J. SZULIK

/s/

Title

Date

Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the
Board of Directors (principal executive officer)

May 29, 2003

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

May 29, 2003

Director

May 29, 2003

Director

May 29, 2003

Director

May 29, 2003

Director

May 29, 2003

Director

May 29, 2003

Director

May 29, 2003

Director

May 29, 2003

Matthew J. Szulik

KEVIN B. THOMPSON

/s/

Kevin B. Thompson

/s/

ROBERT F. YOUNG
Robert F. Young

/s/

EUGENE MCDONALD
Eugene McDonald

/s/

F. SELBY WELLMAN
F. Selby Wellman

/s/

WILLIAM S. KAISER
William S. Kaiser

MARYE ANNE FOX, PH.D.

/s/

Marye Anne Fox, Ph. D.

/s/

W. STEVE ALBRECHT
W. Steve Albrecht

/s/

HENRY HUGH SHELTON
Henry Hugh Shelton
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CERTIFICATIONS
I, Matthew J. Szulik, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10−K of Red Hat, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report.
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a−14 and 15d−14) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report
(the “Evaluation Date”); and
c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the
Evaluation Date;
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and
b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in other
factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
May 29, 2003
By:

/s/ MATTHEW J. SZULIK
Matthew J. Szulik
President and Chief Executive
Officer
(Officer on behalf of the
Registrant)
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I, Kevin B. Thompson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10−K of Red Hat, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report.
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a−14 and 15d−14) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report
(the “Evaluation Date”); and
c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the
Evaluation Date;
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and
b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in other
factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
May 29, 2003
By:

/s/ KEVIN B. THOMPSON
Kevin B. Thompson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.10
RED HAT, INC.
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYEMENT AGREEMENT is made effective 24 July, 2002, by and between Red Hat, Inc., a Delaware corporation with its offices at 1801 Varsity
Drive, Raleigh, North Carolina 27606 (the “Company”), and Matthew Szulik, an individual residing at 3717 William J. Cowan Wynd, Raleigh, North Carolina
27612 (the “Executive”).
The following terms of employment are agreed to by the Parties:
1. Engagement. During the term of this Agreement, the Company will employ Executive as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company. Executive
shall report directly to the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”). Executive shall have responsibilities, duties and authorities commensurate with
chief executive officers of public entities of similar size, and shall be the chief external representative of the Company. All other employees of the Company will
report for organizational purposes to Executive or his designee and not to the Board; provided, however, nothing in this statement shall be construed as limiting
or interfering with the legal obligation of any officer of the Company to report to or advise the Board or the Board’s right to request information from any officer
of the Company. The Board shall, in good fsaith, consider Executive’s advice and recommendations, if any, in connection with any appointments or nominations
to the Board. For so long as Executive remains Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, the Board will nominate Executive to the Board and, if
elected, Executive shall serve in such capacity without additional consideration. While it is not a condition of this Agreement, it is the Board’s intent to have
Executive serve as Chairman of the Board . of Directors so long as he serves on the Board of Directors.
2. Commitment. During and throughout the Employment Term (defined below), Executive will devote his full working time. and attention to the Company.
During such term, Executive shall not engage in any other employment, occupation, or consulting activity unless approved by the Board of Directors; provided,
however, that Executive may (i) serve in any capacity with any professional, community, industry, civic (including governmental boards), educational or
charitable organization, (ii) serve as a member of corporate boards of directors on which Executive currently serves and, with the consent of the Board (which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), other corporate boards of directors, and (iii) subject to the Company’s policies applicable to all
employees, make investments in other businesses and manage his and his family’s personal investments and legal. affairs so long as such activities do not
materially interfere with the discharge of Executive’s duties.
3. Employment Term. Executive’s employment with the Company pursuant to this Agreement shall begin on the date of this Agreement and shall continue until
Employee is terminated under this Agreement (such employment period being the “Employment Term”).
4. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS.
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4.1 Base Salary. During his employment hereunder, Executive shall be entitled to receive a base salary (“Base Salary”) at a rate of three hundred fifty thousand
dollars ($350,000) per annum. The Company shall pay Executive’s Base Salary periodically in arrears not less frequently than monthly in accordance with the
Company’s regular payroll practices as in effect from time to time. The Board will consider increases in Executive’s Base Salary no less frequently than
annually, and, when approved by the Board, any such increase shall become the new Base Salary under this Agreement.
4.2 Incentive Bonus. Executive, upon meeting the terms and conditions stated in this Section 4.2, shall be eligible to receive an annual incentive bonus in an
amount up to the greater of two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) or fifty percent (50%) of his Base Salary for the fiscal year for which the bonus is
calculated. Except as otherwise provided, Executive must be an Employee of the Company at the end of the fiscal year for which the bonus is calculated.
Executive shall receive the maximum bonus for a given fiscal year if all business milestones specified by agreement of the Board and Executive for completion
during that calculation year have been substantially and timely completed as of the end of the calculation year, as determined by the Board in its discretion. When
the list of milestones for each year has been agreed between the parties, it shall be appended to and become a part of this Agreement. In the event that all such
milestones for a given year have not been completed, the Board in its discretion may award a partial bonus (or no bonus) based upon the degree to which the
specified business milestones were successfully completed, the relative importance of those completed and any other factor that the Board may deem relevant.
Any bonus awarded under this Section will be paid in first month of the fiscal year following the calculation year. Nothing in this Section shall preclude the
Board, at its discretion, from authorizing the payment of a supplemental bonus to Executive in addition to any bonus to which he may be entitled under this
Section. The Compensation Committee of the Board shall make its recommendations concerning Executive’s bonus for each year by January 31 of the following
year, and the Board shall make its determination at the first regularly scheduled Board meeting in February of said following year.
4.3 Life Insurance. The Company shall purchase for Executive a one million dollar ($1,000,000) term life insurance policy (the “Policy”) on the life of
Executive from USAA, Northwestern Mutual Life or other highly rated national insurance carrier mutually agreed upon by Company and Executive. Executive
shall be the owner of the Policy and shall establish the beneficiaries thereon. Upon any termination of Executive’s employment with Company Executives shall
have the right to assume of all obligations to pay premiums coming due thereafter so that the policy may remain in full force and effect.
4.4 Stock Options and Change of Control with Respect to Stock Options.
A. Grant of Option. Effective on Jul 24, 2003 and each anniversary thereafter during the term of this agreement or any extension hereof, Executive will receive a
grant of options to purchase shares of no par value common stock of the Company (“Common Stock”) at an option price equal to the closing fair market value
of the common stock of the Company as traded on the NASDAQ exchange on the date of
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the grant. The number of such options to be granted shall be determined by the Board prior to each anniversary but shall not be less than five hundred thousand
(500,000) for any given one−year period. Such options shall vest in equal amounts on a quarterly basis over a four year period following the date of grant. Upon
a Change in Control (defined below) during the Employment Term, all non−vested options granted pursuant to this Section will become vested. The Board shall
provide to Executive a Stock Option Agreement specifying terms and conditions that will reflect the provisions of this Agreement, provisions of the Company’s
employee stock option plan pursuant to which this option grant will be made and other usual and customary provisions for such instruments.
B. Vesting of Options Upon Change of Control. Upon a Change of Control (defined below) during the Employment Term, all non−vested options to purchase
Company stock granted to Executive will immediately become vested. This provision shall supercede any term to the contrary in all stock option agreements
entered into between the Company and Employee, whether now existing or hereinafter executed. Company agrees that during the term of this Agreement any
stock option agreement hereafter entered into between the Company and Executive will reflect the terms of this Agreement.
C. Change of Control. For the purpose of this Agreement, “Change of Control” is defined as:
(1) Any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) becomes the “beneficial owner”
(as defined in Rule 13d−3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 35% or more of the total voting power
represented by the Company’s then outstanding voting securities; or
(2) A change in the composition of the Board occurring within any two−year period as a result of which fewer than a majority of the directors are
Incumbent Directors. “Incumbent Directors” shall mean directors who either (i) are directors of the Company as of the date hereof, or (ii) are elected, or
nominated for election, to the Board with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the time of such election or nomination,
but, in the case of clause (ii), was not elected or nominated in connection with an actual or threatened proxy contest relating to the election of directors to
the Company (any person elected to the Board after being nominated as provided in clause (ii) shall then be considered an Incumbent Director); or
(3) The consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation in which: the voting securities of the Company outstanding
immediately prior thereto would not continue to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving
entity or its parent, as the case may be) at least 50% of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity
or its parent, as the case may be, outstanding immediately after such merger
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or consolidation; or
(4) The consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets (“Asset Sale); or
(5) The approval by the stockholders of the Company of a plan of complete liquidation of the Company.
D. Registration. At all times, the Company shall maintain registration on Form S−8 or another applicable form so that the Common Stock issued upon exercise of
the options are immediately saleable by Executive on the public market.
5. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS.
5.1 Employee Welfare Plans. Executive shall, to the extent eligible, be entitled to participate at a level commensurate with his position in all employee benefit
welfare and retirement plans and programs, as well as equity plans, provided by the Company to its executives in accordance with the terms thereof as in effect
from time to time. Such plans and programs currently include, without limitation, the 401(k) Plan, and the group term life insurance, comprehensive health,
major medical, dental and disability plans.
5.2 Executive Benefits. The Company shall provide to Executive, at the Company’s cost, all perquisites to which other senior executives of the Company are
entitled to receive and such other perquisites which are suitable to the character of Executive’s position with the Company and adequate for the performance of
his duties hereunder. To the extent consistent with applicable law, the Company shall not treat such amounts as income to Executive.
5.3 Business and Entertainment Expenses. Upon submission of appropriate documentation in accordance with its policies in effect from time to time, the
Company shall pay or reimburse Executive for all business expenses which Executive incurs in performing his duties under this Agreement, including, but not
limited to, travel, entertainment, professional dues and subscriptions, and all dues, fees, and expenses associated with membership in various professional,
business, and civic associations and societies in which Executive participates in accordance with the Company’s policies in effect from time to time.
5.4 Flexible Time Off. Executive shall be entitled to paid time off in accordance with the standard written policies of the Company with regard to executives, but
in no event less than sixteen (16) days per calendar year in addition to Company holidays.
5.5 Legal Expenses Related to Performance of Duties. Company shall reimburse Executive for reasonable legal fees associated with personal legal advice
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sought by Executive on matters related to prevention of personal liability Executive might incur during the performance his duties of behalf of the Comany, such
as, but not limited to federal and state legislation governing the conduct of company executives.
6. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.
6.1 General. Subject to the provisions of this Section 6, nothing in this Agreement shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company to terminate
Executive’s employment at any time, nor confer on Executive any right to continue in the employ of the Company.
6.2 Termination Without Cause, Voluntary Termination with Good Reason.
A. General. If, during the Employment Term, Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause (defined below), or Executive voluntarily
resigns from the Company for Good Reason (defined below), Executive shall be entitled to the following severance benefits:
(1) Base Salary, Incentive Bonus, and Benefits. The Company shall continue to pay Executive the sum of the Base Salary plus an amount equal to the
average annual bonus paid to Executive in the two (2) previous years in each of the next two years commencing the day after his Date of Termination (such
period being referred to hereinafter as the “Severance Period”), at such intervals as it would have been paid had Executive remained in the active service
of the Company; provided that in the event of a Change of Control after the Date of Termination, the Company shall, within fifteen (15) days of such
change, pay Executive in a lump sum the full amount of the remaining Base Pay that would be due through lapse of time under this sentence; provided
further, however, if such termination occurs in contemplation of, at the time of, or within two (2) years after a Change in Control, Executive shall instead
be entitled to receive a lump sum cash payment within fifteen (15) days after such termination equal to three times the sum of the Base Salary plus an
amount equal to the average annual bonus paid to Executive in the two previous years. In addition, the Company shall provide for continuation of his and
his eligible dependents’ coverage under the Company’s welfare benefit plans (group life insurance, and comprehensive health, major medical, dental,
disability plans) as in effect on his Date of Termination (defined below) during the Severance Period. In addition, Executive shall receive the incentive
bonus (if any) to which he would have been entitled in accordance with Section 4.2 calculated as if he had been employed through the end of the fiscal year
of his termination, but based on the milestones achieved prior to his Date of Termination.
(2) Stock Options. Any stock options heretofore granted to Executive by the Company or granted by the Company during the Employment Term which are
still outstanding but unvested on Executive’s Date of Termination and which would normally have vested during the calendar year in which his Date of
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Termination occurs, will vest and become exercisable immediately on Executive’s Date of Termination. In addition, Executive’s right to exercise stock
options shall continue throughout the Severance Period as though Executive’s employment with the Company were continuing and for such time after the
end of the Severance Period as prescribed for exercise following termination of employment in each stock option grant agreement. Any sale of Company
stock by Executive shall continue to conform to the Company’s Insider Trading Policy, as now in existence and as hereinafter amended, for so long as
Executive is subject to the rules and restrictions of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
(3) Outplacement Services. The Company shall provide Executive outplacement services at a level commensurate with Executive’s position, including use
of an executive office and secretary, for a period of one (1) year commencing on Executive’s date of termination but in no event extending beyond the date
on which Executive commences other full time employment.
(4) Death During Severance Period. In the event of Executive’s death during the Severance Period, payments of Base Salary under this Section 6 shall
continue to be made during the remainder of the Severance Period to the beneficiary designated in writing for this purpose by Executive or, if no such
beneficiary is specifically designated, to Executive’s estate. Similarly, Executive’s designated beneficiary or estate, as the case may be, may exercise
Executive’s remaining rights under the stock options granted him under Section 4.4.
B. No Mitigation/No Offset. Executive shall not be required to seek other employment or otherwise mitigate the value of any severance benefits contemplated by
this Agreement, nor shall any such benefits be reduced by any earnings or benefits that Executive may receive from any other source. The amounts payable
hereunder shall not be subject to setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which the Company may have against Executive or others.
6.3 Termination for Cause, Voluntary Resignation Without Good Reason.
A. General. If, during the Employment Term, Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause, or Executive voluntarily resigns from his
employment hereunder other than for Good Reason, Executive shall be entitled only to payment of his Base Salary through and including the Date of
Termination or resignation. Executive shall have no further right to receive any other compensation or benefits after such termination or resignation of
employment, except as determined in accordance with the normal terms of the employee benefit plans or programs of the Company or as required by law.
B. Cause. Termination for “Cause” shall mean termination of Executive’s employment because of:
(1) the failure by Executive to materially perform his duties with the
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Company (other than any such failure resulting from (i) his incapacity due to physical or mental impairment or (ii) such factors as are outside Executive’s
control, including, but not limited to, economic downturns, litigation against the Company, or natural disasters), unless any such failure is corrected within
thirty (30) days following written notice by the Board that specifically identifies the manner in which the Board believes Executive has substantially failed
to materially perform his duties; or
(2) the gross misconduct by Executive with regard to the Company or any employee of the Company that is materially injurious to the Company or such
employee.
No act, or failure to act, by Executive shall be “gross misconduct” unless committed without good faith and without a reasonable belief that the act or omission
was in the best interest of the Company. No event shall be deemed the basis for Cause unless the Board initiates action to terminate Executive’s employment
within sixty (60) days after such event is known to the Chairman of the Company, or, if Executive is Chairman, known to the chairman of any committee of the
Board.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive shall not be deemed to have been terminated for Cause without (i) advance written notice provided to Executive not
less than fourteen (14) days prior to the proposed date of termination setting forth the Company’s intention to consider terminating Executive and including a
statement of the proposed date of termination and the specific detailed basis for such consideration of termination for Cause, (ii) an opportunity of Executive,
together with his counsel, to be heard before the Board no less than five (5) days after the giving of such notice and prior to the proposed date of termination, (iii)
a duly adopted resolution of the Board stating that the actions of Executive constituted Cause and the basis thereof, and (iv) a written determination provided by
the Board setting forth the acts and omissions that form the basis of such termination of employment. Any determination of Cause by the Board hereunder shall
be made by the affirmative vote of at least a two−thirds (2/3) majority of all of the members of the Board (other than Executive). Any purported termination of
employment of Executive by the Company which does not meet each and every substantive and procedural requirement of this Section 6.3(B), other than such
failure resulting from Executive’s action or inaction, shall be treated for all purposes under this Agreement as a termination of employment without Cause.
C. Good Reason. For the purposes of this Agreement “Good Reason” means, the occurrence, without the express written consent of Executive, of any of the
following events: (i) any reduction or diminution (except temporarily during any period of disability) in Executive’s titles or positions assured in Section 1(a)
under this Agreement, or any material diminution in Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities with the Company; (ii) a breach by the Company of any
material provision of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any reduction (other than a reduction (not to exceed ten percent (10%)) that applies, in equal
percentages, to all officers (within the meaning of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of the Company), in Executive’s Base Salary
or any material failure to timely pay any part of Executive’s compensation (including, without limitation, Base Salary, and incentive
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bonus) or to materially provide in the aggregate the level of benefits contemplated in this Agreement; (iii) the failure of the Company to obtain and deliver to
Executive a satisfactory written agreement from any successor to the Company to assume and agree to perform this Agreement in accordance with Section 9.4; or
(iv) the failure to nominate Executive to the Board during the Employment Term or the removal of Executive from the Board without Cause or as a result of a
stockholder election in connection with an actual or threatened proxy contest relating to the election of directors to the Company.
6.4 Death or Disability. Executive’s employment hereunder shall terminate immediately upon his death, or if the Board, based upon appropriate medical
evidence, determines Executive has become physically or mentally incapacitated so as to render him incapable of performing his usual and customary duties as
Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company for a continuous period in excess of one hundred eighty (180) days. If Executive’s employment with the
Company terminates because of death or disability, he or his estate will be entitled to the severance benefits described in Section 6.2 as if Executive had been
terminated without Cause by the Company.
6.5 Date of Termination. For purposes of this Agreement, the (“Date of Termination”) of Executive shall be as follows: (i) in the case of termination without
Cause as referenced in Section 6.2, the later of the date upon which Executive receives written notice of termination by the Company or the date specified in such
written notice; (ii) in the case of termination for Cause as referenced in Section 6.3, the later of the date upon which Executive receives written notice of
termination by the Company or the date specified in such written notice; (iii) in the case of Executive’s voluntary resignation as referenced in Section 6.2 or 6.3,
the date specified in the written notice of resignation from Executive to the Company, or if no date is specified, the date upon which the Company receives such
written notice; (iv) in the case of the death of Executive, his date of death; and (v) in the case of termination because of disability, the date specified by the Board
in its determination of such disability under Section 6.4
7. EXCISE TAX
7.1 Gross−up Payment. In the event that Executive shall become entitled to payments and/or benefits provided by this Agreement or any other amounts in the
nature of compensation (whether pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other plan, arrangement or agreement with the Company, any person whose
actions result in a change of ownership or effective control covered by Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code or any person affiliated with the Company or such person)
as a result of such change in ownership or effective control (collectively the “Company Payments”), and such Company Payments will be subject to the tax (the
“Excise Tax”) imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (and any similar tax that may hereafter be imposed by any taxing authority) the Company shall pay to
Executive at the time specified in paragraph (d) below an additional amount (the “Gross−up Payment”) such that the net amount retained by Executive, after
deduction of any Excise Tax on the Company Payments and any U.S. federal, state, and for local income or payroll tax upon the Gross−up Payment provided for
by this paragraph 7.1, but before deduction for any U.S. federal, state, and local income or payroll tax on the Company Payments, shall be equal to the Company
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Payments.
7.2 Determination of Excise Tax Payments. For purposes of determining whether any of the Company Payments and Gross−up Payments (collectively the
“Total Payments”) will be subject to the Excise Tax and the amount of such Excise Tax, (i) the Total Payments shall be treated as “parachute payments”
within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code, and all “parachute payments” in excess of the “base amount” (as defined under Section 280G(b)(3) of
the Code) shall be treated as subject to the Excise Tax, unless and except to the extent that, in the opinion of the Company’s independent certified public
accountants appointed prior to any change in ownership (as defined under Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code) or tax counsel selected by such accountants (the
“Accountants”) such Total Payments (in whole or in part) either do not constitute “parachute payments,” represent reasonable compensation for services actually
rendered within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(4) of the Code in excess of the “base amount” or are otherwise not subject to the Excise Tax, and (ii) the value
of any non−cash benefits or any deferred payment or benefit shall be determined by the Accountants in accordance with the principles of Section 280G of the
Code.
7.3 Adjustment of Gross−Up Payments. For purposes of determining the amount of the Gross−up Payment, Executive shall be deemed to pay U.S. federal
income taxes at the highest marginal rate of U.S. federal income taxation in the calendar year in which the Gross−up Payment is to be made and state and local
income taxes at the highest marginal rate of taxation in the state and locality of Executive’s residence for the calendar year in which the Company Payment is to
be made, net of the maximum reduction in U.S. federal income taxes which could be obtained from deduction of such state and local taxes if paid in such year. In
the event that the Excise Tax is subsequently determined by the Accountants to be less than the amount taken into account hereunder at the time the Gross−up
Payment is made, Executive shall repay to the Company, at the time that the amount of such reduction in Excise Tax is finally determined, the portion of the
prior Gross−up Payment attributable to such reduction (plus the portion of the Gross−up Payment attributable to the Excise Tax and U.S. federal, state and local
income tax imposed on the portion of the Gross−up Payment being repaid by Executive if such repayment results in a reduction in Excise Tax or a U.S. federal,
state and local income tax deduction), plus interest on the amount of such repayment at the rate provided in Section 1274(b)(2)(B) of the Code. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, in the event any portion of the Gross−up Payment to be refunded to the Company has been paid to any U.S. federal, state and local tax authority,
repayment thereof (and related amounts) shall not be required until actual refund or credit of such portion has been made to Executive, and interest payable to the
Company shall not exceed the interest received or credited to Executive by such tax authority for the period it held such portion. Executive and the Company
shall mutually agree upon the course of action to be pursued (and the method of allocating the expense thereof) if Executive’s claim for refund or credit is denied.
In the event that the Excise Tax is later determined by the Accountant or the Internal Revenue Service to exceed the amount taken into account hereunder at the
time the Gross−up Payment is made (including by reason of any payment the existence or amount of which cannot be determined at the time of the Gross−up
Payment), the Company shall make an additional Gross−up Payment in respect of such excess (plus any
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interest or penalties payable with respect to such excess) at the time that the amount of such excess is finally determined.
7.4 Payment Date. The Gross−up Payment or portion thereof provided for in Section 7.3 shall be paid not later than the thirtieth (30th) day following an event
occurring which subjects Executive to the Excise Tax; provided, however, that if the amount of such Gross−up Payment or portion thereof cannot be finally
determined on or before such day, the Company shall pay to Executive on such day an estimate, as determined in good faith by the Accountant, of the minimum
amount of such payments and shall pay the remainder of such payments (together with interest at the rate provided in Section 1274(b)(2)(B) of the Code), subject
to further payments pursuant to Section 7.3 hereof, as soon as the amount thereof can reasonably be determined, but in no event later than the ninetieth (90th) day
after the occurrence of the event subjecting Executive to the Excise Tax. In the event that the amount of the estimated payments exceeds the amount subsequently
determined to have been due, such excess shall constitute a loan by the Company to Executive, payable on the fifth (5th) day after demand by the Company
(together with interest at the rate provided in Section 1274(b)(2)(B) of the Code).
7.5 IRS Controversy. In the event of any controversy with the Internal Revenue Service (or other taxing authority) with regard to the Excise Tax, Executive
shall permit the Company to control issues related to the Excise Tax (at its expense), provided that such issues do not potentially materially adversely affect
Executive, but Executive shall control any other issues. In the event the issues are interrelated, Executive and the Company shall in good faith cooperate so as not
to jeopardize resolution of either issue, but if the parties cannot agree Executive shall make the final determination with regard to the issues. In the event of any
conference with any taxing authority as to the Excise Tax or associated income taxes, Executive shall permit the representative of the Company to accompany
Executive, and Executive and Executive’s representative shall cooperate with the Company and its representative.
7.6 Accountant Charges. The Company shall be responsible for all charges of the Accountant.
7.7 Copies of Communications. The Company and Executive shall promptly deliver to each other copies of any written communications, and summaries of any
verbal communications, with any taxing authority regarding the Excise Tax covered by this Section 7.
8. LIABILITY INSURANCE
8.1 Coverage. The Company shall cover Executive under directors and officers liability insurance both during and, while potential liability exists, after the
Employment Term in the same amount and to the same extent, if any, as the Company covers its other officers and directors.
8.2 Indemnification. The Company shall during and after the Employment Term indemnify and hold harmless Executive to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable
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law with regard to actions or inactions taken by Executive in the performance of his duties as an officer, director and employee of the Company and its affiliates
or as a fiduciary of any benefit plan of the Company and its affiliates.
9. MISCELLANEOUS.
9.1 Payment of Legal Fees. The Company shall pay Executive’s reasonable legal and financial consulting fees and costs associated with entering into this
Agreement, such fees and costs to not exceed $10,000 and to be itemized to the extent they exceed $4,000.
9.2 Notices. All notices or communications hereunder shall be in writing, addressed as follows:
To the Company:
Red Hat, Inc.
1801 Varsity Drive
Raleigh, North Carolina 27606
ATTN: Board of Directors
and
General Counsel
Red Hat, Inc.
1801 Varsity Drive
Raleigh, North Carolina 27606
To Executive:
Mr. Matthew J. Szulik
3717 William J. Cowan Wynd
Raleigh, North Carolina 27612
and
Walter E. Daniels, Esq.
Daniels & Daniels, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 12218
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709
FAX (919) 544−5920
All such notices shall be conclusively deemed to be received and shall be effective, (i) if sent by hand delivery or courier, upon receipt, (ii) if sent by telecopy or
facsimile transmission, upon confirmation of receipt by the sender of such transmission, or (iii) if sent by registered or certified mail, on the fifth day after the
day on which such notice is mailed. Each party shall promptly notify the other of any change in its notification address, and until such notice is received, each
party is entitled to rely on the address in
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this Agreement or the last revised address actually supplied by the other party.
9.3 Severability. Each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of
this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision will be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity,
without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
9.4 Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, beneficiaries, executors and legal representatives of Executive
upon Executive’s death and (b) any successor of the Company, provided that any successor shall within ten (10) days of such assumption deliver to Executive a
written assumption in a form reasonably acceptable to Executive. Any such successor of the Company shall be deemed substituted for the Company under the
terms of this Agreement for all purposes. As used herein, “successor” shall mean any person, firm, corporation or other business entity which at any time,
whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company.
Notwithstanding such assignment, the Company shall remain, with such successor, jointly and severally liable for all of its obligations hereunder. This
Agreement may not otherwise be assigned by the Company.
None of the rights of Executive to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be assignable or transferable except through a
testamentary disposition or by the laws of descent and distribution upon the death of Executive or as provided in Section 9.8 hereof. Any attempted assignment,
transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than as aforesaid) of any interest in the rights of Executive to receive any form of compensation hereunder shall
be null and void; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive shall be allowed to transfer vested shares subject to stock options or equity
awards and vested restricted s. Any attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than as aforesaid) of any interest in the rights of
Executive to receive any form of compensation hereunder shall be null and void; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive shall be
allowed to transfer vested shares subject to the Stock Option or other stock options or equity awards and vested Restricted Stock consistent with the rules for
transfers to “family members” as defined in Securities Act Form S−8.
9.5 Arbitration of Disputes.
A. Arbitration. In the event that the parties hereto have any dispute under this Agreement, the parties shall first attempt in good faith amicably to settle the matter
by mutual negotiations or mediation. If such negotiations are unsuccessful, the parties agree that all disputes that may arise between them arising out of, relating
to, or in connection with this Agreement, or the interpretation, validity, construction, performance, breach, or termination thereof shall be settled by binding
arbitration to be held in Raleigh, North Carolina, or such other location agreed by the parties hereto, in
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accordance with the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes then in effect of the American Arbitration Association. The arbitrator may grant
injunctions or other relief in such dispute or controversy. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final, conclusive and binding on the parties to the arbitration.
Judgment may be entered on the arbitrator’s decision in any court having jurisdiction.
B. Governing Law. The arbitrators shall apply North Carolina law to the merits of dispute or claim, without reference to rules of conflicts of law. Executive and
the Company hereby expressly consent to the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in North Carolina for any action or proceeding arising
from or relating to this Agreement or relating to any arbitration in which the parties are participants.
C. Costs and Fees of Arbitration. Executive shall pay the initial arbitration filing (not to exceed $200), and the Company shall pay the remaining costs and
expenses of such arbitration (unless Executive requests that each party pay one−half of the costs and expenses of such arbitration or unless otherwise required by
law). Unless otherwise required by law or pursuant to an award by the arbitrator, the Company and Executive shall each pay separately its counsel fees and
expenses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the arbitrator may, but need not, award the prevailing party in any dispute its or his legal fees and expenses.
9.6 No Oral Modification, Cancellation or Discharge. This Agreement may only be amended, canceled or discharged in writing signed by Executive and the
Company’s General Counsel, the Chairman of the Company (provided Executive is not Chairman) or a member of the Compensation Committee.
9.7 Survivorship. The respective rights and obligations of Company and Executive hereunder shall survive any termination of Executive upon his employment
to the extent necessary to the intended preservation of such rights and obligations.
9.8 Beneficiaries. Executive shall be entitled, to the extent permitted under any applicable law, to select and change the beneficiary or beneficiaries to receive
any compensation or benefit payable hereunder upon his death by giving the Company written notice thereof. If Executive dies, severance then due or other
amounts due hereunder shall be paid to his designated beneficiary or beneficiaries or, if none are designated or none survive Executive, his estate.
9.9 Withholding. The Company shall be entitled to withhold, or cause to be withheld, any amount of federal, state, city or other withholding taxes required by
law with respect to payments made to Executive in connection with his employment hereunder.
9.10 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and governed in accordance with the laws of North Carolina without reference to rules
relating to conflict of law.
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9.11 Entire Agreement. This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties and shall supersede any and all previous contracts, arrangements or
understandings between the Company and Executive.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be duly executed and Executive has hereunto set his hand, as of the day and year first
above written, to be effective as of the Effective Date.
EXECUTIVE:
By:

RED HAT, INC.
/s/

MATTHEW SZULIK

/s/ KEVIN B. THOMPSON

Matthew Szulik
Its:
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Kevin B. Thompson
Executive Vice President & CFO

EXHIBIT 10.11
RED HAT, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT
THIS RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT is made and entered into on the 27 th day of June, 2001, by and between RED HAT, INC., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), and Matthew J. Szulik (the “Employee”).
1. Discounted Sale. Subject to the restrictions and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company hereby agrees to sell to the Employee, not in lieu of salary
or other compensation, one million (1,000,000) shares of the Company’s Common Stock at the price of $0.50 per share (the “Restricted Shares”), upon
Employee’s delivery to the Company of a check in the amount of the total purchase price for the Restricted Shares. Employee hereby agrees with the restrictions
and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
2. Forfeiture Restrictions. The Restricted Shares may not be sold, assigned, pledged, exchanged, hypothecated or otherwise transferred, encumbered or disposed
of voluntarily, by operation of law, pursuant to a court decree or legal process (including without limitation any interspousal transfer by court decree or order in
connection with an equitable distribution of marital assets) or otherwise to the extent the Restricted Shares are then subject to forfeiture and the Company’s right
to repurchase the Restricted Shares to the Company upon the occurrence of certain events pursuant to paragraph 3 below (the “Forfeiture Restrictions”).
3. Lapse of Forfeiture Restrictions. The Forfeiture Restrictions shall lapse with respect to the Restricted Shares in accordance with the following schedule
provided that the Employee has been continuously employed by the Company from the date of this Agreement through the lapse date and no other event of
forfeiture has occurred:

Lapse Date

Number of Restricted
Shares as to which
Forfeiture Restrictions Lapse

September 27, 2001
December 27, 2001
March 27, 2002
June 27, 2002
September 27, 2002
December 27, 2002
March 27, 2003
June 27, 2003

125,000
125,000
125,000
125,000
125,000
125,000
125,000
125,000

In the event the Employee voluntarily elects to terminate employment with the Company, the Company shall have the right to repurchase from the Employee all
such Restricted Shares at their sale price of $0.50 per share to the extent such shares are then subject to the Forfeiture Restrictions; provided, however, any such
repurchase shall not take place sooner than thirty (30) days following Employee’s last day of employment with the Company, during which thirty−day period
Employee’s exercise rights shall continue. The rights set forth in Section 1, and as limited by Sections 2 and 3, are cumulative and may be exercised only before
the earlier of (a) the date which is ten (10) years from the date of this Agreement or (b) the date which is 120 days following Employee’s last date of employment
with the Company.
4. Certificates. Upon payment of the purchase price, a certificate evidencing the Restricted Shares shall be issued by the Company in the Employee’s name, and
the Employee shall have voting

rights and shall be entitled to receive all dividends paid with respect to the Restricted Shares unless and until the Restricted Shares are repurchased pursuant to
the provisions of this Agreement. The certificate shall bear a legend evidencing the Forfeiture Restrictions, if any, remaining in effect. The Company shall cause
the certificate to be delivered upon issuance to the Secretary of the Company as a depository for safekeeping until a forfeiture occurs or the Forfeiture
Restrictions lapse pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and the Employee shall deliver to the Company a stock power relating to the Restricted Shares in the
form attached hereto as Exhibit A. Upon the lapse of the Forfeiture Restrictions without forfeiture, the Company shall cause a new certificate or certificates to be
issued without legend in the name of the Employee for the shares as to which the Forfeiture Restrictions have lapsed. Notwithstanding any other provisions of
this Agreement, the issuance or delivery of any shares (whether subject to restrictions or unrestricted) may be postponed for such period as may be required to
comply with applicable requirements of any national securities exchange or any requirements under any law or regulation applicable to the issuance or delivery
of such shares.
5. Withholding of Tax. To the extent that the sale of the Restricted Shares or the lapse of the Forfeiture Restrictions results in income to the Employee for federal,
state or local income or employment tax purposes, the Employee shall deliver to the Company at the time of such receipt or lapse, as the case may be, such
amount of money as the Company may require to meet its withholding obligation under applicable tax laws or regulations, and, if the Employee fails to do so, the
Company is authorized to withhold from any cash remuneration then or thereafter payable to the Employee any tax required to be withheld by reason of such
income.
6. Status of Restricted Shares. The Employee agrees that the Restricted Shares will not be sold or otherwise disposed of in any manner which would constitute a
violation of any applicable federal or state securities laws.
7. No Right to Employment. This Agreement shall not confer upon the Employee any right to continued employment with the Company, nor shall it interfere in
any way with the right of the Company to terminate the employment of the Employee.
8. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successors to the Company and all persons lawfully claiming under the
Employee.
9. Multiple Originals. This Agreement is executed in multiple originals, one of which is being retained by each of the parties hereto and each of which shall be
deemed an original hereof.
10. Governing Law. The Agreement and all actions taken thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North
Carolina.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, and the Participant has hereunto set the
Participant’s hand and seal, all as of the day and year first above written.

RED HAT, INC.
By:
Kevin B. Thompson,
Executive Vice President
and CFO

[SEAL]
Matthew J. Szulik

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
Subsidiary

Americas
Red Hat, Inc.
Red Hat Canada Limited
Red Hat Professional Consulting,
Inc.
RH Interchange, Inc.
Red Hat Financial Holdings, Inc.
Sierra Acquisition Corp.
Sierra Acquisition Corp. II
NocPulse, Inc.
Red Hat Brasil Ltda.

Jurisdiction

Delaware
Ontario, Canada
Georgia
Delaware
Delaware
North Carolina
North Carolina
Delaware
Brazil

Europe
Red Hat UK Limited
Red Hat GmbH
Red Hat Ireland Limited
Red Hat France SARL
Red Hat Italia S.p.A.
Red Hat S.L.
bMind S.p.A.

United Kingdom
Germany
Ireland
France
Italy
Spain
Italy

Asia−Pacific/Japan
Red Hat Asia−Pacific Pty. Ltd.
Red Hat Asia−Pacific Pte. Ltd.
Red Hat KK
Red Hat India Private Ltd.

Australia
Singapore
Japan
India

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S−8 (Nos. 333−71912, 333−59306, 333−55968, 333−45980,
333−45042, 333−37884, 333−96163 and 333−88159) of Red Hat, Inc. of our report dated March 25, 2003 relating to the consolidated financial statements which
appears in this Form 10−K.
/s/

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
May 29, 2003

EXHIBIT 99.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10−K of Red Hat, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended February 28, 2003, I, Matthew J.
Szulik, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) such Annual Report on Form 10−K for the year ended February 28, 2003 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10−K for the year ended February 28, 2003 fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
May 29, 2003

By:

/s/

MATTHEW J.
SZULIK

Matthew J. Szulik
President and Chief Executive
Officer

EXHIBIT 99.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10−K of Red Hat, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended February 28, 2003, I, Kevin B.
Thompson, Chief Financial Officer, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002, that to
my knowledge:
(1) such Annual Report on Form 10−K for the year ended February 28, 2003 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10−K for the year ended February 28, 2003 fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
May 29, 2003

By:

/s/ KEVIN B.
THOMPSON
Kevin B. Thompson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial
Officer)
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